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apital One Financial Corporation, headquartered in Falls
Church, Virginia, is a financial services company whose

principal subsidiaries — Capital One Bank and Capital One,
F.S.B.—offer consumer lending products and are among the
largest credit card issuers in the United States. Capital One's
subsidiaries collectively have approximately 8.6 million
customers and $12.8 billion in managed loans. The Company
has nearly 5,800 associates and offices in Richmond,
Fredericksburg and Falls Church, Virginia; Tampa, Florida;
Dallas-Fort Worth, Texas; and London, England.
Capital One has grown dramatically due to the success of
our proprietary information-based strategy, which combines
advances in information technology and sophisticated analytical techniques to identify, manage and rapidly exploit business opportunities. Capital One is committed to increasing
stockholder value, to developing and empowering our associates, and to providing quality service. The common stock
of Capital One Financial Corporation is listed on the New
York Stock Exchange under the symbol COF.

Capital One ® is a registered trademark of Capital One Financial Corporation
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Financial Summary
Earnings Per Share

Year Ended December 31
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

1995

1996

Percent
Change

$2.30

Earnings
Net interest income

$

Non-interest income
Non-interest expense

365,484
763,424
713,182

$

155,267
37.5%

Net income
Tax rate

208,013
553,043
497,430

75.70 %
38.04
43.37

126,511
36.0%

22.73
4.17

$1.90

)

$1.52
$1.04

Per Common Share
Net income
Dividends
Book value at year-end

$

2.30
.32
11.16

$

1.90
.24
9.05

21.05
33.33
23.31

Market prices

36.00
36.63
21.88

23.88
29.63
15.38

50.79

15.65

12.57

24.50

Return on average equity

2.79%
22.94

2.85%
23.28

(2.11)
(1.46)

Common equity to assets

11.45

12.59

(9.05)

2.73

2.85

(4.21)

Year-end
High
Low
Price/Earnings ratio

Ratios
Return on average assets

‘94*

‘95

‘96

*Pro forma. $1.52 includes $.48 per share effect
of separation costs.

Total Accounts
(in millions)

8.6

Allowance for loan losses to
loans as of year-end

6.1
Managed Consumer Loan Data
Average reported loans
Average securitized loans
Average total managed loans
Year-end reported loans
Year-end securitized loans
Year-end total managed loans
Year-end total accounts (000’s)
Yield
Net interest margin
Delinquency rate (30+ days)
Net charge-off rate

$ 3,651,908
7,616,553

$ 2,940,208
6,149,070

24.21
23.87

11,268,461
4,343,902

9,089,278
2,921,679

23.98
48.68

8,460,067
12,803,969
8,586

7,523,801
10,445,480
6,149

12.44
22.58
39.63

14.76%
8.16
6.24
4.24

13.12%
6.28
4.20
2.25

12.50
29.94
48.57
88.44

5.0

‘94

‘95

‘96

Managed Loans
Year-End Reported Data
Assets
Earning assets
Average assets
Average earning assets
Common equity
Associates (FTEs)
Shares outstanding (000’s)
Common stockholders of record

(in billions)

$ 6,467,445
5,702,005
5,568,960
4,798,987
740,391
5,740
66,325
14,562

$ 4,759,321
4,155,475
4,436,055
3,890,131
599,191
3,559
66,175
13,247

35.89
37.22
25.54
23.36
23.57
61.28
.23
9.93

$12.8
$10.4
$7.4

‘94

‘95

‘96

1

To Our
Stockholders:
apital One turned in a terrific

C

performance in 1996. While the

credit card industry experienced
increasing competition and a worsening
consumer credit picture, our Company
enjoyed another year of record financial
results. We saw our fourth consecutive
year of rapid growth in loans, accounts,
earnings and marketing investment.
We begin 1997 in a strong position for
continued success.
For 1996, our net income increased
23% to $155.3 million, or $2.30 per
share, up from $126.5 million, or $1.90
per share, in 1995. Underlying growth
was much greater: in addition to
achieving record earnings, we increased
our marketing investment by 41% to an
all-time high of $207 million. The size
of this investment demonstrates the
strength of our commitment to future
profitability and growth. Managed
Richard D. Fairbank

Nigel W. Morris

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

President and Chief Operating Officer

loans increased 23% to $12.8 billion
from $10.4 billion. Our account base
grew to 8.6 million from 6.1 million,

Our Company enjoyed

a 40% gain and the highest rate of

another year of record

account growth of the 10 largest credit

financial results. We

card issuers.

saw our fourth con-

2

Creating strong, steady, profitable

secutive year of rapid

growth is Capital One’s top priority.

growth in loans,

By nearly every financial yardstick, the

accounts, earnings

Company is five times larger than it

and marketing invest-

was four years ago. At that time, we

ment.

operated as the credit card division of

Signet Bank. In November 1994, when

pricing and feature combinations tai-

we became an independent company,

lored to the individual needs and wants

we set the ambitious goal of increasing

of our customers. By designing and

Capital One’s earnings per share by

pricing products to fit each customer’s

The information-based

20% a year. We exceeded the 20% mark

financial circumstances, we have been

strategy gives us the

in 1995 and in 1996. We are aiming to

able to add almost seven million cus-

ability to customize

do it again in 1997.

tomers in the last four years.

our offerings in order

Customization also enables us to offer

to get the right prod-

our products at highly competitive

uct to the right cus-

Our consistently strong growth is the

rates while simultaneously generating

tomer at the right

result of the proprietary information-

favorable returns for Capital One.

time and at the right

The Strategy Driving
Our Success

based strategy we created in 1988.

price.

Using advanced information technology

Growth Through
Constant Innovation

and sophisticated quantitative analy-

We believe that every business or

sis, we mine the vast amounts of data

product idea has a limited shelf life. We

we have collected on millions of actual

have been able to plan for the

and prospective customers. We use the

inevitable end of a product’s life cycle

data and scientific methodology to test

and stay ahead of the downtrend by

many product ideas on a small scale,

introducing a steady stream of product

We have been able to

allowing us to separate winners from

innovations. For example, we were the

plan for the inevitable

losers before we make major commit-

first to offer the balance transfer prod-

end of a product’s

ments to marketing. By the time we

uct nationwide, and it was a tremen-

life cycle and stay

invest in a large-scale product launch,

dous success. But, like most successful

ahead of the down-

we already know we can count on supe-

product innovations, it drew a crowd

trend by introducing

rior economic returns.

of competitors and, over time, became

a steady stream of

less profitable. Anticipating this devel-

product innovations.

The information-based strategy
also gives us the ability to customize

opment well in advance, we steadily

our offerings in order to get the right

scaled up our investment in a new,

product to the right customer at the

second generation of products even

right time and at the right price. We

while the balance transfer product was

now have more than 3,000 product,

still enjoying strong growth.
These second generation products,
which capitalize on our ability to customize offerings for a wide range of

3

specialty segments, include secured

Our information-based strategy

cards, college student cards, affinity

also gives us the ability to make oppor-

cards and a variety of cards for under-

tunistic moves even with mature prod-

served markets. These products tend to

ucts. Despite decreasing our market-

have lower credit limits, slower asset

ing emphasis on the balance transfer

Our information-based

growth, higher operational costs, and

product in 1996, we continued exten-

strategy gives us the

somewhat higher delinquencies and

sive research and testing in this arena.

data and the tools

charge-offs. But their most salient

Out of these efforts came a number

to manage risk effec-

characteristic is their high profitability,

of important breakthroughs, which we

tively. We use sophis-

due to our customized pricing and the

have begun to market.

ticated models to

fact that competition is less intense in

analyze risk, and we

these specialty markets.

base our decisions on

Conservative
Risk Management
Consumer credit is a cyclical business

highly conservative

Strong Gains in a
Difficult Credit Environment

forecasts.

These new products, coupled with

we believe that the problems of the

introductory-rate repricings, have con-

current cycle have yet to peak. Our

tributed to a dramatic surge in rev-

information-based strategy gives us

enue. In 1996, Capital One’s total rev-

the data and the tools to manage risk

enue (managed net interest income

effectively. We use sophisticated mod-

plus non-interest income) grew 63% to

els to analyze risk, and we base

$1.5 billion from $906 million in 1995.

our decisions on highly conservative

Put another way, risk adjusted revenue

forecasts.

(total revenue less charge-offs) rose to a

and, unlike many industry observers,

To minimize total credit exposure,

record 8.02% of average earning assets

our average credit lines are well below

in 1996 from 6.99% in 1995. While our

the industry average ($3,100 versus

margins expanded, many of our com-

$5,700). Products are also priced and

petitors suffered shrinking returns.

structured to provide appropriate risk
coverage at the individual customer
level. Anticipating a rise in credit losses again in 1997, we added to our
reserves. And our margins are sufficiently large to cushion the impact of

4

substantial increases in charge-offs,

pleted this large-scale hiring without

The combination of

whether from a continued oversupply

compromising our exacting standards.

our strategy and our

of credit or an economic downturn.

We are committed to recruiting top per-

conservatism was

The combination of our strategy and

formers for every job because the speed,

critical to our record

our conservatism was critical to our

scope and complexity of our daily activ-

performance in a

record performance in a difficult year

ities demand the best efforts of the best

difficult year for the

for the credit card business.

people. At year-end, more than 30% of

credit card business.

Also important to Capital One’s con-

our associates were owners of Capital

tinued strong growth has been our abil-

One stock—evidence that the people of

ity to harness the power of cutting-edge

Capital One clearly believe in the

information technology and use it to

Company and have aligned their per-

create a highly flexible operating infra-

sonal interests with our goal of creating

structure. This infrastructure allows

long-term value for stockholders.

us to bring new ideas to market much
more quickly than our competition.
Our success in integrating informa-

Geographically and organizationally, we have continued to diversify.
During 1996, we added two operational

tion technology into every aspect of

centers in Richmond and one in the

our business earned Capital One the

Dallas-Fort Worth area. A major expan-

Gartner Group’s 1996 Excellence in

sion is also under way in Tampa.

Technology Award. Given annually

Additionally, we established Capital

to only one company in the United

One, F.S.B. in Falls Church, Virginia

Our success in inte-

States, the award is one of the most

and opened a branch of Capital One

grating information

prestigious in its field. Past winners

Bank in London. These new operations

technology into every

include UPS, American Airlines and

will allow us to develop new products,

aspect of our business

Federal Express.

expand our customer base and enter

earned Capital One

new markets.

the Gartner Group’s

Recruiting Top Performers
To keep pace with our rapid growth, we
added nearly 2,000 associates in 1996,
ending the year with 5,800 employees.
We are especially proud that we com-

Developing the Next
Generation of Products

1996 Excellence in
Technology Award.

As 1997 begins, we remain hard at
work testing a third generation of innovations. Despite being one of the
nation’s 10 largest credit card issuers,
we have always seen ourselves as information-based marketers rather than as
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a credit card company. As the informa-

But the real power of our principles

tion revolution increasingly transforms

is unleashed by the people charged

other consumer products and services,

with turning them into action. We are

we believe our strategy and technology

proud of our associates for all they

will enable us to seize a competitive

have done to help execute our unique

advantage in the marketplace. We have

strategy, create and market products

identified certain key industries, both

that meet the needs of millions of cus-

As the information

financial and non-financial, and in

tomers, and serve those customers well.

revolution increasing-

some cases have begun more extensive

Our principles, and the company-wide

ly transforms other

test-based exploration.

commitment to them, are what have

consumer products

Our initial non-financial offering, a

enabled Capital One to grow so fast

and services, we

telecommunications product, was intro-

in such a short period. These principles

believe our strategy

duced in late 1995. However, we will

are timeless, so we are confident that

and technology will

continue to keep most of our develop-

they will serve us as well in the future

enable us to seize

ment efforts under wraps. By pursuing

as they have in the past.

a competitive advan-

ideas quietly, Capital One often has

tage in the market-

been first to market—a key competitive

place.

advantage in a business environment
as fast-changing and imitative as ours.
Guiding Principles

Richard D. Fairbank

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Ahead, we see an abundance of opportunities for strong growth. Some will
come from changes we make—inventing new products, serving new customers, opening new markets at home
and abroad. Some will come from continuity—from our passionate commitment to the eight guiding principles
behind Capital One’s remarkable
growth. These principles, featured in a
special section that starts on page 7,
are the essence of Capital One.

6

Nigel W. Morris

President and Chief Operating Officer

The Essence of Capital One
apital One’s sustained success is the product of

C

a set of principles we have embraced since

bringing the information-based strategy to the
Company in 1988. These principles, the essence of
Capital One, combine strategic insights and management
values, which we refined through years of consulting
and entrepreneurship and have tailored to the unique
requirements of our information-based strategy.
These principles are not just something we talk
about; they are a way of life at Capital One.
Implementing them has required rebuilding the
Company from the ground up and challenging many
of the
core assumptions upon which large companies are
typically built. As the Industrial Age gives way to
the Information Age, management paradigms will
inevitably be revolutionized. Capital One is an
Information Age company built to leverage technology
and knowledge capital for rapid exploitation of market opportunities. As competitors strive to emulate
Capital One, they set their sights on our products and
our technology. But our true competitive advantage

00
7

The InformationBased Strategy
apital One began with a

C

strategic vision: clear,

dynamic, inexorable. We saw that
the technology and information
revolution had transformed the
credit card business into an
information business. One that
is extraordinarily data-rich, allowing the capture of information on
every customer interaction and
transaction. With this information,
we can conduct scientific tests;
build actuarially-based models
of consumer behavior; and tailor
products, pricing, credit lines and
account management to meet the
individual needs and wants of
each customer. By exploiting this
insight, we have transformed the
one-size-fits-all credit card industry and created one of the fastestgrowing companies in America.
Because our strategy is information-based, not product-based, we
are in an excellent position to ride
the macro trend of the information
revolution and apply our strategy
to other industries as they too are
reshaped by information.

8

Technology:
Our Central Nervous System
W

ith one of the world’s largest data warehouses, Capital One is at the forefront in harnessing information
technology. Modular, scalable and flexible, our information technology systems are the central nervous

system of our strategy. Revolutionary breakthroughs in the cost of storing and processing large quantities
of information have contributed to the success of this strategy. We leverage the power of information in the
management of every aspect of our business, from strategy and marketing to operations management and
human resources. Information technology allows extensive testing and the rapid rollout of innovation after
innovation. And it has added significant efficiency to call center functions by equipping associates with
power tools for account management, cross-selling, collections and fraud detection. Our ability to successfully
leverage information technology to support business strategy earned Capital One an honor given to only one
U.S. corporation each year, the Gartner Group’s coveted 1996 Excellence in Technology Award.
9

Only The Best

R

ecruiting is Capital One’s
most important business.

We don’t just say it, we live it.
The complexity of our strategy
and unending innovation demand
world-class talent—intellectual
and executional superstars. We
use our information-based strategy
to find the best candidates and
measure their performance
through comprehensive tests and
interviews. The standards are
extraordinarily high. Our senior
management is extensively
involved throughout the recruiting process. After hiring the very
best of the best, we work hard to
develop them through training
programs, exposure to management, coaching, job rotation and
early opportunities for unusually
broad responsibility. We view our
career development efforts as critical in building the competencies
required by Capital One’s information-based strategy. In 1996, we
promoted 1,296 of our associates,
a testament to the effectiveness
of our investment in recruiting,
our commitment to associate
development, and the vitality
of career growth opportunities
at Capital One.

10

ur information-based strategy begins with hiring exceptional talent—talent that is eager to seize challenges,

O

to take ownership as soon as problems arise, and to make solutions happen. But it doesn’t stop there. Knowing

that our associates need an environment which supports peak performance, we have created and nurtured a culture of entrepreneurship, which we believe is one of the most distinctive assets of Capital One. We encourage our
associates to think and act like owners. And we challenge our managers to see themselves not as bosses but as
coaches dedicated to empowering every player by providing direction, leading by example, setting extraordinary
standards, and keeping our very fast track clear of the usual bureaucratic barriers to high performance. Capital
One has spread the spirit of ownership throughout the Company by making all associates eligible for our employee
stock ownership program. Through that program, our 401(k) plan and stock options, 65% of our associates have
become Capital One stockholders or have options to purchase Capital One stock.

Owners Make It Happen
11

A

n information-based strategy
requires seamless integration

of people and systems, and seamless
integration requires near-infinite flexibility. Many of our business opportunities are short-lived. We have to move
fast to exploit them and move on when
they fade. We strive to see the world
through the eyes of our customers, not
through our organizational structures.
We have integrated certain functions
such as marketing and credit to allow
for integrated economic decision making. Interdepartmental teamwork is a
way of life at Capital One, with players
constantly crossing boundaries, changing jobs and forming new teams to
meet evolving needs inside the Company and in the marketplace. Communication—top-down, bottom-up and
across departments—is nonstop to
ensure that all of us act on complete,
up-to-the-minute information. Information technology systems and operational plans are built into new products from the beginning so that prototypes can be created quickly and testing and marketing can be scaled up
as fast as results warrant. With our
integrated systems and people, Capital
One is endlessly flexible, able to
reshape itself again and again to make
the most of our
opportunities.

12

Integrated
Yet
Modular

W

hile Capital One’s strategy
is one of aggressive growth

through innovation, it is anchored
in a culture of conservatism.
Our innovation is pragmatic, tied
to a rigorous discipline of testing,
which lets us know in advance
which ideas are likely to succeed in
the marketplace. New products are
not rolled out unless they demonstrate an ability to deliver superior
returns. We forecast the inevitable
decline of existing opportunities,
plan for the obsolescence of our
products, and challenge the organization to find new sources of
growth. While our management of
credit risk employs highly sophisticated statistical models, extensive
testing and monitoring, and constant recalibration of models as
markets move, we understand that
credit risk is partly driven by
external factors beyond our control. So we fortify our position
with large financial buffers, one of
the industry’s lowest average credit limits, stringent credit underwriting and flexible products—
all designed to help us weather
adverse credit developments.

Guided by Conservatism
13

T

he fortunes of a company are tied to the fortunes of its industry. The path to profitability is smoother in
some industries than in others. Indeed, perhaps the most important determinant of a company’s profitability

is the structure of its industry—the competitive environment, the nature of the consumer buying decision, the
industry growth rate. And industry structures change over time, creating great vulnerabilities or opportunities.
Most companies take industry as a given and manage within the industry’s constraints. At Capital One, industry
is a variable. We have pursued credit cards because the industry is fast growing and profitable, and offers great
opportunities to apply our information-based strategy. But we are not a credit card company. We are a technology-driven, information-based marketing company. We are actively working to take our strategy into selected
other industries which meet two key criteria: an attractive industry structure and profitable opportunities to
leverage our information-based strategy. Our management team, which includes many former strategy consultants, constantly scans evolving industry landscapes in search of growth opportunities for Capital One. Exploiting rapidly changing industry structures is an essential prerequisite to achieving sustained, profitable growth.

Industry Choice
Drives Destiny
14

G

rowth is life. Without it,
organizations wither and

die. With it, everything is possible.

Growth is Life

A growing company can recruit
great people because great people,
like great companies, want to
grow, too. Stars want to play on a
winning team—not just to beat the
competition but to develop their
talents and pursue their dreams.
Growth multiplies opportunities
for advancement. And opportunities for advancement foster teamwork by eliminating a principal
source of friction in stagnant
organizations—competition over
limited possibilities for promotion.
Growth enhances job security,
and it’s just plain fun. Two independent surveys have found that
Capital One’s associate morale
scores are among the highest in
corporate America—and getting
better. At Capital One we have
worked to build a growth
machine—a flexible operation
turbocharged by technology, powered by constant innovation, and
filled with associates who share
our conviction that growth is life.
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Selected Financial and Operating Data
Year Ended December 31
(dollars in thousands,
except per share data)

Income Statement Data:
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after
provision for loan losses
Non-interest income
Non-interest expense(2)
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income
Dividend payout ratio
Per Common Share:
Net income(3)
Dividends
Book value at year-end
Average common and common
equivalent shares outstanding(3)

1996

$

$

$

660,483
294,999
365,484
167,246
198,238
763,424
713,182
248,480
93,213
155,267
13.24%
2.30
.32
11.16

1995

$

$

$

1994

1993

(1)

1992

(1)

Five-Year
Compound
Growth Rate

1991

(1)

(1)

457,409
249,396
208,013
65,895

$ 258,672
93,695
164,977
30,727

$ 259,857
67,994
191,863
34,030

$ 120,630
29,888
90,742
55,012

$ 111,195
41,797
69,398
40,891

42.81%
47.82
39.41
32.54

142,118
553,043
497,430
197,731
71,220
126,511
12.55%

134,250
396,902
384,325
146,827
51,564
$ 95,263

157,833
194,825
181,804
170,854
60,369
$ 110,485

35,730
121,642
108,508
48,864
16,614
$ 32,250

28,507
111,017
86,042
53,482
18,184
$ 35,298

47.38
47.05
52.65
35.96
38.66
34.48%

$

$

$

$

1.90
.24
9.05

1.44

1.67

.49

.53

7.18

67,587,712

66,592,750

66,067,250

Selected Average
Balances:
Consumer loans
Allowance for loan losses
Securities
Total assets
Deposits
Other borrowings
Stockholders’/Division equity(4)

$ 3,651,908
(83,573)
1,147,079
5,568,960
1,046,122
3,623,104
676,759

$ 2,940,208
(69,939)
949,923
4,436,055
769,688
2,952,162
543,364

$2,286,684
(66,434)
62,626
2,629,920
36,248
2,287,474
239,616

$2,213,378
(59,754)

Selected Year-End
Balances:
Consumer loans
Allowance for loan losses
Securities
Total assets
Deposits
Other borrowings
Stockholders’/Division equity(4)

$ 4,343,902
(118,500)
1,358,103
6,467,445
943,022
4,525,216
740,391

$ 2,921,679
(72,000)
1,233,796
4,759,321
696,037
3,301,672
599,191

$2,228,455
(68,516)
412,070
3,091,980
452,201
2,062,688
474,557

$1,862,744
(63,516)

$1,304,560
(55,993)

1,991,207

1,351,802

837,240

1,791,464
168,879

1,266,507
69,294

778,082
51,586

Managed Consumer
Loan Data:
Average reported loans
Average securitized loans
Average total managed loans
Consumer loan interest income
Year-end total managed loans
Year-end total accounts (000’s)
Yield
Net interest margin
Delinquency rate (30+ days)
Net charge-off rate(5)

$ 3,651,908
7,616,553
11,268,461
1,662,990
12,803,969
8,586
14.76%
8.16
6.24
4.24

$ 2,940,208
6,149,070
9,089,278
1,192,100
10,445,480
6,149
13.12%
6.28
4.20
2.25

$2,286,684
3,910,739
6,197,423
733,659
7,378,455
5,049
11.84%
6.90
2.95
1.48

$2,213,378
1,052,187
3,265,565
432,521
4,832,400
3,118
13.24%
9.55
2.39
2.09

$ 772,742
680,000
1,452,742
249,082
1,984,560
1,672
17.15%
12.63
5.30
5.18

$ 673,487
638,531
1,312,018
227,165
1,447,448
1,261
17.31%
10.70
8.18
5.61

2.79%
22.94
12.15

2.85%
23.28
12.25

3.62%
39.76
9.11

4.83%
97.07
4.97

3.90%
62.68
6.22

4.82%
75.41
6.40

2.73

2.85

3.07

3.41

4.29

4.11

Operating Ratios:
Return on average assets
Return on average equity
Common equity to assets (average)
Allowance for loan losses to loans
as of year-end(6)

$ 772,742
(43,767)

$ 673,487
(23,154)

40.23%
29.27

2,289,043

827,093

731,881

50.06

2,148,155
113,815

762,762
51,454

675,732
46,807

39.91
70.62

$ 767,448
(31,541)

40.23%
64.18
53.74
48.91
54.65
46.76

(1) The Company’s results prior to November 22, 1994, reflect operations as a division of Signet Bank.
(2) Non-interest expense includes a $49.0 million ($31.9 million after-tax) nonrecurring charge for computer services contract termination expense in 1994.
(3) Assumes 66,067,250 shares outstanding prior to November 22, 1994.
(4) Division equity reflects an allocation of capital to Capital One Bank as a division for purposes of preparation of the financial statements of the Company.
Such allocation is not subject to regulatory minimums.
(5) Net charge-offs reflect actual principal amounts charged off less recoveries.
(6) Excludes consumer loans held for securitization.
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Introduction
apital One Financial Corporation (the “Corporation”)
is a holding company whose subsidiaries provide a
variety of products and services to consumers. The principal subsidiaries are Capital One Bank (the “Bank”) which
offers credit card products and Capital One, F.S.B. (the
“Savings Bank”) which provides certain consumer lending
and deposit services. The Corporation and its subsidiaries
are collectively referred to as the “Company.” The Company
is one of the oldest continually operating bank card issuers
in the United States, having commenced operations in
1953, the same year as the formation of what is now
MasterCard International. As of December 31, 1996, the
Company had approximately 8.6 million customers and
$12.8 billion in managed loans outstanding and was one of
the largest providers of MasterCard and Visa credit cards
in the United States.
Prior to November 1994, the Company operated as the
credit card division of Signet Bank, a wholly owned subsidiary of Signet Banking Corporation (“Signet”). On
November 22, 1994, Signet Bank contributed designated
assets and liabilities of its credit card division and approximately $358 million of equity capital into the Bank (the
“Separation”).
The historic financial statements for the Company for
the periods prior to November 22, 1994 have been prepared
based upon the transfer of assets and assumption of liabilities contemplated by an agreement entered into among the
Corporation, Signet and Signet Bank at the time of the
Separation (the “Separation Agreement”). Prior to the
Separation, the operations of the Company were conducted
as a division within Signet Bank, to which Signet and its
various subsidiaries had provided significant financial and
operational support. As of December 31, 1996, substantially
all services previously performed by Signet were performed
by the Company.
The Company’s profitability is affected by the net interest margin and non-interest income earned on earning
assets, consumer usage patterns, credit quality, the level of
solicitation (marketing) expenses and operating efficiency.
The Company’s revenues consist primarily of interest
income on consumer loans and securities, and non-interest
income consisting of servicing income and fees, which
include annual membership, interchange, cash advance,
overlimit, past-due and other fee income. The Company’s
primary expenses are the costs of funding assets, credit
losses, operating expenses (including salaries and associate
benefits), solicitation (marketing) expenses, processing
expenses and income taxes.
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Significant marketing expenses (e.g., advertising, printing, credit bureau costs and postage) to implement the
Company’s new product strategies are incurred and
expensed prior to the acquisition of new accounts while
the resulting revenues are recognized over the life of the
acquired accounts. Revenues recognized are a function of
the response rate of the initial marketing program, usage
and attrition patterns, credit quality of accounts, product
pricing and effectiveness of account management programs.
Certain pro forma information discussed within this
annual report present the Company as if it had been an
independently funded and operated stand-alone organization
for the full year in 1994. Pro forma income includes, for the
period prior to the Separation, interest income earned on a
hypothetical portfolio of high-quality liquid securities that
the Company would have purchased in order to provide adequate liquidity and to meet its ongoing cash needs, interest
expense as if the Company were separately funded and certain operating costs as a public stand-alone entity rather
than as a division of a larger organization. These operating
expenses include the expenses associated with the ownership of additional buildings transferred upon
consummation of the Separation and other additional
administrative expenses.

Earnings Summary
he following discussion provides a summary of 1996
results compared to 1995 results and 1995 results compared to the 1994 historic results of the Company which,
prior to November 22, 1994, are as a division of Signet.
Each component is discussed in further detail in subsequent sections of this analysis.

T

Year Ended December 31, 1996 Compared to
Year Ended December 31, 1995

et income of $155.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 1996 increased $28.8 million, or 23%,
over net income of $126.5 million in 1995. The increase in
net income is primarily a result of an increase in both asset
volumes and rates. Net interest income increased $157.5
million, or 76%, as average earning assets increased 23%
and the net interest margin increased to 7.62% from 5.35%.
The provision for loan losses increased $101.4 million, or
154%, as average reported consumer loans increased 24%
and the reported net charge-off rate increased to 3.63% in
1996 from 2.03% in 1995 as the average age of the accounts
increased (generally referred to as “seasoning”). Non-interest income increased $210.4 million, or 38%, primarily due
to the increase in average managed consumer loans and a
shift to more fee intensive products. Increases in solicitation

N

increased to 2.03% in 1995 from 1.13%
in 1994 as the accounts seasoned. Non-interest income
increased $156.1 million, or 39%, primarily due to the
increase in average managed loans, including those securitized. Increases in solicitation costs of $45.9 million, or
46%, and other non-interest expenses (excluding the contract termination expense of $49.0 million) of $116.2 million, or 50%, reflect the increase in marketing investment
in existing and new product opportunities and the cost of
operations to manage the growth in accounts. Average
managed loans grew to $9.1 billion, or 47%, from $6.2 billion as a result of the success of the Company’s solicitation
and account management strategies.

costs of $59.8 million, or 41%, and other non-interest
expenses of $155.9 million, or 44%, reflect the increase in
marketing investment in existing and new product opportunities and the cost of operations to build infrastructure
and manage the growth in accounts. Average managed consumer loans grew 24% for the year ended December 31,
1996, to $11.3 billion from $9.1 billion for the year ended
December 31, 1995, and average managed accounts grew
30% for the same period to 7.5 million from 5.7 million as a
result of the continued success of the Company’s solicitation and account management strategies.
Year Ended December 31, 1995 Compared to
Year Ended December 31, 1994

et income for the year ended December 31, 1995 of
$126.5 million increased $31.2 million, or 33%, over
net income of $95.3 million in 1994. The increase in net
income was partially attributable to the $31.9 million
(after-tax) nonrecurring charge for 1994 settlement costs to
terminate a long-term data processing services contract.
Other factors affecting net income include the increase
in net interest income of $43.0 million, or 26%, the result of
a 66% increase in average earning assets, offset by a
decrease in the net interest margin to 5.35% from 7.02%.
The decrease in net interest margin reflected overall increases in average short-term market interest rates plus the
absence of a stand-alone hedging program prior to the
Separation. The provision for loan losses increased $35.2
million, or 114%, as average reported consumer loans
increased 37% and the reported net charge-off rate

N

Table 1

Managed Consumer Loan Portfolio
he Company analyzes its financial performance on a
managed consumer loan portfolio basis. Managed consumer loan data adjusts the balance sheet and income
statement to add back the effect of securitizing consumer
loans. The Company also evaluates its interest rate
exposure on a managed portfolio basis.
The Company’s managed consumer loan portfolio is comprised of on-balance sheet loans, loans held for securitization and securitized loans. Securitized loans are not
assets of the Company and, therefore, are not shown on the
balance sheet. Reported consumer loans consist of on-balance
sheet loans and loans held for securitization and excludes
securitized loans. Table 1 summarizes the Company’s
managed consumer loan portfolio.

T

Managed Consumer Loan Portfolio
Year Ended December 31

(in thousands)

1995

1994

1993

1992

$ 4,343,902
8,460,067
$12,803,969

400,000
2,521,679
7,523,801
$10,445,480

$2,228,455
5,150,000
$7,378,455

$1,862,744
2,969,656
$4,832,400

$1,304,560
680,000
$1,984,560

$

$

$ 432,581
1,854,103
3,910,739
$6,197,423

$ 393,835
1,819,543
1,052,187
$3,265,565

$ 772,742
680,000
$1,452,742

1996

Year-End Balances:
$

Consumer loans held for securitization
On-balance sheet consumer loans
Securitized consumer loans
Total managed consumer loan portfolio

Average Balances:
Consumer loans held for securitization
On-balance sheet consumer loans
Securitized consumer loans
Total average managed consumer loan portfolio

699,044
2,952,864
7,616,553
$11,268,461

402,602
2,537,606
6,149,070
$ 9,089,278
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The Company’s reported consumer loan portfolio as of
December 31, 1996 consisted of 64% fixed and 36% variable interest rate loans. As of December 31, 1996, the
managed consumer loan portfolio consisted of 57% fixed
and 43% variable interest rate loans.
Since 1990, the Company has actively engaged in credit
card loan securitization transactions which are treated as
sales under generally accepted accounting principles. For
securitized loans, amounts that would previously have
been reported as interest income, interest expense, service
charges and provision for loan losses are instead included
in non-interest income as servicing income. Because credit
losses are absorbed against servicing income over the life
of these transactions, such income may vary depending
upon the credit performance of the securitized loans.
However, exposure to credit losses on the securitized loans
is contractually limited to these cash flows.
In June 1996, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 125 (“SFAS 125”), “Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of
Liabilities,” which establishes the accounting for certain
financial asset transfers including securitization transactions. SFAS 125 requires an entity, after a transfer of
financial assets that meets the criteria for sale accounting,
to recognize the financial and servicing assets it controls
and the liabilities it has incurred and to derecognize financial assets for which control has been surrendered. The
provisions of SFAS 125 are effective January 1, 1997.
Based on the anticipated performance of securitization
transactions the Company has undertaken, the Company
does not believe the adoption of the new standard will have
a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
The Company will continuously assess the performance of
new and existing securitization transactions as assumptions of cash flows change.
A securitization generally involves the transfer by the
Company of the receivables generated by a pool of credit
card accounts to an entity created for the securitization,
generally a trust. Certificates issued ($8.5 billion outstanding as of December 31, 1996) by the trust represent undivided ownership interests in those receivables transferred
into the trust. The credit quality of the receivables is supported by credit enhancement, which may be in various
forms including a letter of credit, a cash collateral guaranty or account, or a subordinated interest in the receivables
in the pool. The securitization results in the removal of the
receivables from the Company’s balance sheet for financial
and regulatory accounting purposes.
The receivables transferred to a securitization pool
include those outstanding in the selected accounts at the
time the trust is formed and those arising under the
accounts from time to time until termination of the trust.
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The Company also transfers to the trust the cash collected
in payment of principal, interest and fees such as annual,
cash advance, overlimit, past-due and other fees received
and the Company’s interest in any collateral.
Certificates representing participation interests in the
pool are sold to the public through an underwritten offering
or to private investors in private placement transactions.
The Company receives the proceeds of the sale. The
amount of receivables transferred to the trust exceeds the
initial principal amount of the certificates issued by the
trust to investors. The Company retains an interest in the
trust equal to the amount of the receivables in excess of the
principal balance of the certificates. The Company’s interest in the trust varies as the amount of the excess receivables in the trust fluctuates as the accountholders make
principal payments and incur new charges on the selected
accounts.
The Company acts as a servicing agent and receives loan
servicing fees generally equal to 1.5% to 2.0% per annum of
the securitized receivables. As a servicing agent, the
Company continues to provide customer service, to collect
past-due accounts and to provide all other services typically
performed for its customers. Accordingly, its relationship
with its customers is not affected by the securitization.
The certificateholders are entitled to receive periodic
interest payments at a fixed rate or a floating rate. In general, the Company’s floating rate issuances are based on
the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Amounts
collected in excess of that needed to pay the rate of interest
are used to pay the credit enhancement fee and servicing
fee and are available to absorb the investors’ share of credit
losses.
Certificateholders in the Company’s securitization program are generally entitled to receive principal payments
either through monthly payments during an amortization
period or in one lump sum after an accumulation period.
Amortization may begin sooner in certain circumstances,
including if the annualized portfolio yield (consisting, generally, of interest, annual fees and other credit card fees) for a
three-month period drops below the sum of the certificate
rate payable to investors, loan servicing fees and net credit
losses during the period or certain other events occur.
Prior to the commencement of the amortization or accumulation period, all principal payments received on the
trust receivables are reinvested in new receivables of the
selected accounts for the benefit of the trust. During the

amortization period, the investors’ share of principal payments are paid to the certificateholders until they are
paid in full. During the accumulation period, the investors’
share of principal payments are paid into a principal funding account designed to accumulate amounts so that the
certificates can be paid in full on the expected final payment date. The trust continues in existence until all
amounts required to be paid to certificateholders of all

Table 2

series are repaid, at which time any remaining receivables
and funds held in the trust will be reassigned to the
Company.
Table 2 indicates the impact of the credit card securitizations on the income statement, average assets, return on
assets, yield and net interest margin for the periods presented.
The Company intends to continue to securitize consumer
loans.

Impact of Credit Card Securitizations
Year Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)

1995

1996

1994

Statements of Income (as reported):
$

Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Non-interest income
Non-interest expense
Income before income taxes

$

365,484
167,246
763,424
713,182
248,480

$

648,073
345,141
(302,932)

$

$

208,013
65,895
553,043
497,430
197,731

$ 164,977
30,727
396,902
384,325
$ 146,827

421,983
145,209
(276,774)

$ 267,201
65,921
(201,280)

Adjustments for Securitizations:
$

Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Non-interest income
Non-interest expense
Income before income taxes

$

–

$

–

$

–

$ 1,013,557
512,387
460,492
713,182
$ 248,480

$

629,996
211,104
276,269
497,430
197,731

$ 4,798,987
2.79%
7.62

$ 3,890,131
2.85%
5.35

$2,349,310
3.62%
7.02

$12,415,540
1.18%
8.16
14.76

$10,039,201
1.20%
6.28
13.12

$6,260,049
1.46%
6.90
11.84

Managed Statements of Income (as adjusted):
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Non-interest income
Non-interest expense
Income before income taxes

$

$ 432,178
96,648
195,622
384,325
$ 146,827

Operating Data and Ratios:
Reported:
Average earning assets
Return on average assets
Net interest margin(1)
Managed:
Average earning assets
Return on average assets
Net interest margin(1)
Yield on managed portfolio
(1) Net interest margin is equal to net interest income divided by average earning assets.

Risk Adjusted Revenue and Margin
n originating its consumer loan portfolio in recent years,
the Company had pursued a low introductory interest
rate strategy with accounts repricing to higher rates after
six to sixteen months from the date of origination (“first
generation products”). The amount of repricing is actively
managed in an effort to maximize return at the customer

I

level, reflecting the risk and expected performance of the
account. Accounts also may be repriced upwards or downwards based on individual customer performance. Many of
the Company’s first generation products had a balance
transfer feature under which customers could transfer
balances held in their other credit card accounts to the
Company. The Company’s historic managed loan growth
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has been principally the result of this balance transfer feature. Industry competitors have continuously solicited the
Company’s customers with similar low-rate introductory
strategies. Management believes that these competitive
pressures have and will continue to put additional pressure
on low-rate introductory strategies.
In applying its Information-Based Strategies (“IBS”) and
in response to competitive pressures during late 1994, the
Company began to shift a significant amount of its solicitation expense to second generation product opportunities.
Second generation products consist of secured card products and other customized card products including affinity
and co-branded cards, college student cards and other
cards targeted to certain markets that were underserved
by the Company’s competitors. These products do not have
the immediate impact on managed loan balances of the
first generation products but typically consist of lower credit limit accounts which build balances over time. The terms
of the second generation products tend to include annual
membership fees and higher annual finance charge rates.
The higher risk profile of the customers targeted for the
second generation products and the lower credit limit associated with these products also tend to result in higher
delinquency and net charge-off rates and consequently
higher past-due and overlimit fees than the first generation
products.
Although these second generation products have differing characteristics, both the first generation and second
generation products meet the Company’s objective of maximizing revenue for the level of risk undertaken.
Management believes that comparable measures for external analysis are the risk adjusted revenue and risk adjusted
margin of the portfolio. Risk adjusted revenue is defined as

Managed Risk
Adjusted Revenue*
(in millions)

$996

$701
$502

‘94**

‘95

‘96

*Net interest income plus non-interest
income less net charge-offs.
**Pro forma.
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Managed Risk
Adjusted Margin*
8.02%
7.29%

‘94**

6.99%

‘95

‘96

*Net interest income plus non-interest
income less net charge-offs divided by
average earning assets.
**Pro forma.

net interest income and non-interest income less net
charge-offs. Risk adjusted margin measures risk adjusted
revenue as a percent of managed earning assets. It considers not only the finance charge yield and net interest margin, the primary focus of the first generation products, but
also the fee income associated with the second generation
products. By deducting net charge-offs, consideration is
given to the risk inherent in these differing products.
Risk adjusted revenue of $996.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 1996 increased $294.9 million, or 42%,
over risk adjusted revenue of $701.4 million in 1995. This
increase resulted from an increase in managed net interest
income of $383.6 million to $1.0 billion and an increase in
managed non-interest income of $184.2 million to $460.5
million, offset by an increase in managed net charge-offs of
$272.9 million to $477.7 million in 1996 as compared to
1995. Risk adjusted margin increased to 8.02% for the year
ended December 31, 1996 from 6.99% in 1995. This
increase resulted from an increase in managed net interest
margin to 8.16% in 1996 from 6.28% in 1995, an increase in
managed non-interest income as a percent of managed
earning assets to 3.71% in 1996 from 2.75% in 1995 offset
by an increase in managed net charge-offs as a percentage
of managed earning assets to 3.85% in 1996 from 2.04% in
1995. The cause of increases and decreases in the various
components of risk adjusted revenue are discussed in
further detail in subsequent sections of this analysis.
Risk adjusted revenue of $701.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 1995 increased $199.8 million, or
39.8%, over pro forma risk adjusted revenue of $501.6 million in 1994. This increase resulted from an increase in
managed net interest income of $234.8 million to $630.0
million and an increase in managed non-interest income of
$78.2 million to $276.3 million, offset by an increase in
managed net charge-offs of $113.2 million to $204.8 million

in 1995 as compared to 1994. Risk adjusted margin
decreased to 6.99% for the year ended December 31, 1995
from pro forma risk adjusted margin of 7.29% in 1994. This
decrease resulted from an increase in managed net interest
margin to 6.28% in 1995 from pro forma managed net
interest margin of 5.74% in 1994, a decrease in managed
non-interest income as a percent of managed earning
assets to 2.75% in 1995 from pro forma of 2.88% in 1994
offset by an increase in managed net charge-offs as a percentage of managed earning assets to 2.04% in 1995 from
pro forma of 1.33% in 1994. The cause of increases and
decreases in the various components of risk adjusted revenue are discussed in further detail in subsequent sections
of this analysis.

Net Interest Income
et interest income is interest and past-due fees earned
from the Company’s consumer loans and securities
less interest expense on borrowings, which include interest-bearing deposits, short-term borrowings and borrowings from senior and deposit notes. Prior to the Separation,
interest expense represented amounts allocated to the
Company by Signet to fund consumer loans and other
assets. The interest expense paid on the allocated borrowings by the Company was based on average historic rates
paid by Signet. See “Funding” for a detailed description of
the funding allocations.
Net interest income for the year ended December 31,
1996 was $365.5 million compared to $208.0 million for
1995, representing an increase of $157.5 million, or 76%.
Net interest income increased as a result of growth in earning assets and an increase in the net interest margin.
Average earning assets increased 23% for the year ended
December 31, 1996 to $4.8 billion from $3.9 billion for the
year ended December 31, 1995. The reported net interest
margin increased to 7.62% in 1996 from 5.35% in 1995
primarily attributable to a 269 basis point increase in the
yield on consumer loans and a 38 basis point decrease in
the cost of funds. The yield on consumer loans increased to
16.21% for the year ended December 31, 1996 from 13.52%
for the year ended December 31, 1995. The yield increase
was impacted by the repricing of introductory rate loans to
higher rates in accordance with their respective terms,
changes in product mix to higher yielding, second generation products and the increase in the amount of past-due
fees from both a change in terms and an increase in the
delinquency rate. The average rates paid on borrowed
funds decreased to 6.32% for the year ended December 31,
1996 from 6.70% in 1995 primarily reflecting decreases in
short-term market rates from year to year.

N

The managed net interest margin for the year ended
December 31, 1996 increased to 8.16% from 6.28% for the
year ended December 31, 1995. This increase was primarily the result of a 164 basis point increase in consumer loan
yield for the year ended December 31, 1996 and a reduction
of 46 basis points in borrowing costs for the same period, as
compared to 1995. The increase in consumer loan yield to
14.76% for the year ended December 31, 1996 from 13.12%
in 1995 principally reflected the 1996 repricing of introductory rate loans, changes in product mix and the increase in
past-due fees charged on delinquent accounts as noted
above. Additionally, the decrease in average rates paid on
managed interest-bearing liabilities to 5.84% for the year
ended December 31, 1996 versus 6.30% for the year ended
December 31, 1995, reflected decreases in short-term
market rates from year to year.

Managed Net
Interest Margin
8.16%
6.28%
5.74%

‘94*

‘95

‘96

*Pro forma.

Net interest income for the year ended December 31,
1995 increased $43.0 million, or 26%, to $208.0 million
from $165.0 million in 1994. This increase was the result of
a 66% increase in the average balance of, and a 75 basis
point increase in yield on, earning assets offset by significant increases in the cost of funds. Net interest margin
decreased 167 basis points to 5.35% in 1995 from 7.02% in
1994 as the yield increase on earning assets to 11.76% from
11.01% was more than offset by a cost of funds increase of
267 basis points to 6.70% from 4.03%.
The average yield on consumer loans increased 236
basis points to 13.52% in 1995 from 11.16% in 1994. This
increase primarily reflected the repricing of introductory
rate consumer loans to higher rates in accordance with
their terms and the repricing of variable rate consumer
loans to higher rates based on the increase in average
short-term market interest rates. The net interest margin
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was also impacted by an increased percentage of lower
yielding securities (24% of average earning assets in 1995
versus 3% in 1994). The increase in the cost of funds
reflected the increase in average short-term market interest rates and incrementally higher market cost of funds
paid by the Company on a stand-alone basis after the
Separation versus the amounts allocated by Signet in 1994.

Table 3

Table 3 provides average balance sheet data, an analysis
of net interest income, net interest spread (the difference
between the yield on earning assets and the cost of interest-bearing liabilities) and net interest margin for each of
the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994,
respectively.

Statement of Average Balances, Income and Expense, Yields and Rates
Year Ended December 31
1995

1996
(dollars in thousands)

Average
Balance

1994

Yield/
Rate

Average
Balance

Income/
Expense

Yield/
Rate

$592,088
21,293

16.21%
5.39

$2,940,208
453,797

$397,654
26,832

13.52%
5.91

47,102
$660,483

6.26
13.76%

496,126
32,923
3,890,131 $457,409
9,309
(69,939)
123,472

6.64
11.76%

Income/
Expense

Average
Balance

Income/
Expense

Yield/
Rate

Assets:
Earning assets
Consumer loans(1)
Federal funds sold
Other securities
Total earning assets
Cash and due from banks
Allowance for loan losses
Premises and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

$3,651,908
394,939
752,140
4,798,987
40,698
(83,573)
156,441
656,407
$5,568,960

483,082
$4,436,055

$2,286,684
49,709

$255,115
2,483

11.16%
5.00

12,917
1,074
2,349,310 $258,672
8,331
(66,434)
53,039

8.31
11.01%

285,674
$2,629,920

Liabilities and Equity:
Interest-bearing liabilities
Deposits
Short-term borrowings
Senior and deposit notes
Total interest-bearing liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity
Total liabilities and equity
Net interest spread

$1,046,122
454,899

$ 56,272
28,509

5.38%
6.27

$ 769,688
1,028,075

$ 49,547
66,214

6.44%
6.44

$ 36,248
2,286,779

3,168,205
4,669,226

210,218
$294,999

6.64
6.32%

1,924,087
3,721,850

133,635
$249,396

6.95
6.70%

695
2,323,722

222,975
4,892,201
676,759

170,841
3,892,691
543,364

$5,568,960

$

2,364
91,278

6.52%
3.99

53
$ 93,695

7.63
4.03%

66,582
2,390,304
239,616

$4,436,055

$2,629,920

7.44%

5.06%

6.98%

13.76%

11.76%

11.01%

6.14
7.62%

6.41
5.35%

3.99
7.02%

Interest income to average
earning assets
Interest expense to average
earning assets
Net interest margin

(1) Interest income includes past-due fees on loans of approximately $94,393, $50,384 and $16,478 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994,
respectively.

Interest Variance Analysis
et interest income is affected by changes in the average interest rate earned on earning assets and the
average interest rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities. In
addition, net interest income is affected by changes in the
volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.

N
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Table 4 sets forth the dollar amount of the increase
(decrease) in interest income and interest expense resulting from changes in the volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and from changes in yields and rates.

Table 4

Interest Variance Analysis
Year Ended December 31
1995 vs. 1994

1996 vs. 1995
(in thousands)

Increase
(Decrease)

Change due to (1)
Volume
Rate

Increase
(Decrease)

Change due to (1)
Volume
Rate

Interest Income:
Consumer loans
Federal funds sold
Other securities
Total interest income

$194,434 $106,761
(5,539)
(3,297)

$ 87,673
(2,242)

$142,539
24,349

$ 81,791
23,811

$ 60,748
538

14,179
203,074

16,127
117,398

(1,948)
85,676

31,849
198,737

32,109
180,092

(260)
18,645

6,725
(37,705)
76,583

15,788
(35,967)
82,799

(9,063)
(1,738)
(6,216)

47,183
(25,064)
133,582

47,214
(64,819)
133,587

(31)
39,755
(5)

Interest Expense:
Deposits
Short-term borrowings
Senior and deposit notes
Total interest expense
Net interest income(1)

45,603
$157,471

60,520
$ 55,920

(14,917)
$101,551

155,701
$ 43,036

74,141
$ 89,275

81,560
$(46,239)

(1) The change in interest due to both volume and rates has been allocated in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar amounts of the change in each.
The changes in income and expense are calculated independently for each line in the schedule. The totals for the volume and rate columns are not the sum of the
individual lines.

Servicing Income
ervicing income represents income from securitizations. This income reflects the excess of interest and
fee income earned on securitized loans over loan losses and
interest paid on investor certificates as well as other interest and fees earned and paid associated with credit
enhancement (see “Managed Consumer Loan Portfolio”).
Servicing income increased $49.9 million, or 12%, to
$459.8 million for the year ended December 31, 1996 from
$409.9 million in 1995, primarily due to increases in net
interest income on securitized credit card loans offset by
increased charge-offs on such loans. Average securitized
credit card loans increased 24% for the year ended
December 31, 1996 compared to 1995. Net interest income
on securitized loans increased $226.1 million, or 54%, to
$648.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1996 from
$422.0 million for the year ended December 31, 1995, primarily as a result of loan growth and an increase in the
securitized portfolio’s net interest margin to 8.51% in 1996
versus 6.86% in 1995. This increase in net interest margin
was the result of an increase in yield on securitized loans of
114 basis points for the year ended December 31, 1996,
which was a result of repricing introductory rate accounts,
and decreased cost of funds on securitized loans of 51 basis
points as short-term rates declined from the prior year.
Charge-offs on securitized loans for the year ended
December 31, 1996 increased $199.9 million, or 138%, compared to the prior year due to the increase in average of
securitized loans, worsening consumer credit and seasoning of the portfolio.
Servicing income increased $97.8 million, or 31%, to
$409.9 million in 1995 from $312.1 million in 1994. Average

S

securitized credit card loans increased 57% for the year
ended December 31, 1995 as compared to the prior year.
Net interest income on securitized loans increased $154.8
million, or 58%, to $422.0 million in 1995 from $267.2 million in 1994 primarily as a result of the 57% increase in
average securitized loans. Net interest margin on these
loans was principally flat at 6.86% in 1995 versus 6.83% in
1994. Charge-offs on these loans increased $79.3 million, or
120%, to $145.2 million in 1995 from $65.9 million in 1994
due to the increase in average loans, loan seasoning and
the downturn in consumer credit.

Other Non-Interest Income
ther reported non-interest income increased to $303.6
million, or 112%, for the year ended December 31, 1996
compared to $143.1 million for the year ended December
31, 1995. The increase in other non-interest income was
due to an increase in the average number of accounts of
30% for the year ended December 31, 1996 from 1995, an
increase in charge volume, a shift to more fee intensive second generation products and changes in the timing and
amount of overlimit fees charged.
Other reported non-interest income increased to $143.1
million, or 69%, for the year ended December 31, 1995,
compared to $84.8 million for the year ended December 31,
1994. The increase in other non-interest income was driven
by increased service fees, which include annual membership, interchange, cash advance and overlimit fees. This
increase is attributable to a rise in the number of accounts
and charge volume, as well as a shift to second generation
products that generate higher amounts of fee income.

O
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Non-Interest Expense

Asset Quality

on-interest expense for the year ended December 31,
1996 increased $215.8 million, or 43%, to $713.2 million from $497.4 million for the year ended December 31,
1995. Contributing to the increase in non-interest expense
were solicitation expenses which increased $59.8 million,
or 41%, to $206.6 million in 1996 from $146.8 million in
1995. Solicitation expense represents the cost to select,
print and mail the Company’s product offerings to potential
and existing customers utilizing its information-based
strategy and account management techniques. This
increase also reflects the Company’s expectation that it will
continue to invest in second generation products, as well as
other new products and services (see “Business Outlook”
for further discussion). All other non-interest expenses
increased $155.9 million, or 44%, to $506.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 1996 from $350.6 million in 1995.
The increase in other non-interest expense, including
salaries and associate benefits, was primarily a result of an
increase in the average number of accounts of 30% for the
year ended December 31, 1996. Other factors impacting
1996 non-interest expense levels include a product mix
shift to more service-intensive, second generation accounts,
additional staff associated with building infrastructure, an
increase in charge volume and an increase in certain costs
associated with information systems enhancements.
Non-interest expense for the year ended December 31,
1995 increased $113.1 million, or 29%, to $497.4 million
from $384.3 million in the year ended December 31, 1994.
The increase would have been higher without the $49.0
million expense in 1994 for settlement costs to terminate a
long-term data processing services contract. Solicitation
expense increased $45.9 million, or 46%, to $146.8 million
in 1995 from $100.9 million in 1994.
For all periods prior to the Separation, non-interest
expense includes an allocation of expenses for data processing, accounting, audit, human resources, corporate secretary, treasury, legal and other administrative support
provided by Signet. Management believes the allocation
methods used were reasonable.

T
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Income Taxes
he Company’s effective income tax rate increased to
37.5% for the year ended December 31, 1996 as compared to 36% for 1995 and includes both state and federal
income tax components. The increase in the effective tax
rate is primarily the result of increased state tax expense
as the Company expands its operations into multiple jurisdictions. For all periods prior to February 28, 1995, the
Company was included in Signet’s consolidated tax return
and income tax expense was determined on a separate
return basis at the federal statutory rate of 35%.
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he asset quality of a portfolio is generally a function of
the initial underwriting criteria used, seasoning of the
accounts, account management activities and geographic,
demographic, or other forms of concentration, as well as
general economic conditions.
The average age of the accounts is also an important
indicator of the delinquency and loss levels of the portfolio.
Accounts tend to exhibit a rising trend of delinquency and
credit losses as they season. As of December 31, 1996, 53%
of managed accounts, representing 42% of the total managed loan balance, were less than 18 months old.
Accordingly, it is likely that the Company’s managed loan
portfolio will experience increased levels of delinquency
and loan losses as the average age of the Company’s
accounts increases.
Another factor contributing to the expectation of a rising
rate of delinquency and credit losses is a shift in the product mix. As discussed in “Risk Adjusted Revenue and

Marketing Investment
(in millions)

$207

$147
$101

‘94

‘95

‘96

Margin”, certain second generation products have higher
delinquency and charge-off rates. In the case of secured
card loans, collateral, in the form of cash deposits, reduces
any ultimate charge-offs. The costs associated with higher
delinquency and charge-off rates are considered in the pricing of individual products.
During 1996, general economic conditions for consumer
credit worsened as industry levels of charge-offs (including
bankruptcies) and delinquencies both increased significantly.
These trends have impacted the Company’s 1996 results.

portfolio’s delinquency rate as of December 31, 1996 principally reflected the continued seasoning of accounts and
consumer loan balances, the increased presence of second
generation products and general economic trends in
consumer credit performance.

Delinquencies
able 5 shows the Company’s consumer loan delinquency
trends for the periods presented as reported for financial statement purposes and on a managed basis. The
entire balance of an account is contractually delinquent if
the minimum payment is not received by the billing date.
However, the Company generally continues to accrue interest until the loan is charged off. Delinquencies not only
have the potential to impact earnings in the form of net
charge-offs, they also are costly in terms of the personnel
and other resources dedicated to resolving them.
The 30-plus day delinquency rate for the reported consumer loan portfolio decreased to 6.08% as of December 31,
1996, from 6.29% as of December 31, 1995. The modest
decrease in 1996 reported delinquency reflects the securitization of certain second generation receivables in 1996.
The delinquency rate for the total managed consumer
loan portfolio was 6.24% of related loans as of December
31, 1996, up from 4.20% as of December 31, 1995, while the
dollar amount of delinquent managed consumer loans
increased approximately $359.9 million. The managed

T

Managed Net Charge-Off
and 30+ Day
Delinquency Rate
6.24%

4.20%

4.24%

2.95%
2.25%
1.48%

‘94

‘95

‘96

■ Net Charge-off Rate
■ Delinquency Rate

Table 5

Delinquencies(1)
December 31
1995

1996

Loans

% of
Total
Loans

$ 4,343,902

100.00%

(dollars in thousands)

1994

Loans

% of
Total
Loans

$ 2,921,679

100.00%

1993

Loans

% of
Total
Loans

$2,228,455

100.00%

1992

Loans

% of
Total
Loans

Loans

% of
Total
Loans

$1,862,744

100.00%

$1,304,560

100.00%

Reported:
Loans outstanding
Loans delinquent:

96,819
55,679

30-59 days
60-89 days

111,791
264,289

2.57
6.08%

$12,803,969

100.00%

90 or more days
Total

2.23
1.28

$

65,711
38,311

2.25
1.31

79,694
183,716

2.73
6.29%

$10,445,480

100.00%

$

29,032
14,741

1.30
.66

24,445
68,218

1.10
3.06%

$7,378,455

100.00%

$

19,186
10,618

1.03
.57

18,255
48,059

.98
2.58%

$4,832,400

100.00%

$

21,525
11,089

1.65
.85

23,352
55,966

1.79
4.29%

$1,984,560

100.00%

$

Managed:
Loans outstanding
Loans delinquent:
30-59 days

279,787

2.19

165,306

1.58

60-89 days

162,668
356,700
799,155

1.27
2.78
6.24%

92,665
181,243
439,214

.89
1.73
4.20%

90 or more days
Total

$

$

90,733
45,277
81,720
$ 217,730

1.23
.61
1.11
2.95%

46,391
25,128
43,975
$ 115,494

.96
.52
.91
2.39%

40,088
21,433
43,661
$ 105,182

2.02
1.08
2.20
5.30%

(1) Includes consumer loans held for securitization.

Capital One

27

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations (continued)

Net Charge-Offs
et charge-offs include the principal amount of losses
(excluding accrued and unpaid finance charges, fees
and fraud losses) less current period recoveries. Consumer
loans are typically charged off (net of any collateral) in the
next billing cycle after becoming 180 days past-due,
although earlier charge-offs may occur on accounts of
bankrupt or deceased customers. Bankrupt customers’
accounts are generally charged off within 30 days of notification. For the year ended December 31, 1996, net chargeoffs of managed consumer loans increased 133% while
average managed consumer loans grew 24% over the same
period. The increase in net charge-offs was the result of
continued seasoning of accounts and consumer loan
balances, general economic trends in consumer credit performance and the impact of intense competition. During
the year ended December 31, 1995, net charge-offs of managed loans increased 123% over the year ended December
31, 1994; however, the average managed loan portfolio
increased 47% over the same period. Table 6 presents the
Company’s net charge-offs for the periods presented on a
reported and managed basis.
For the year ended December 31, 1996, the Company’s
net charge-offs as a percentage of average managed loans

N

Table 6

was 4.24%. Through the use of IBS, the credit quality of
the Company’s portfolio for the three years ended
December 31, 1996 was better than industry averages.
Extensive testing of credit experience with past and present cardholders has enabled the Company to continually
refine its credit policies and develop an array of proprietary
statistical models and approaches to the account generation, management and collection processes. The Company’s
policy is to optimize the profitability of each account within
acceptable risk characteristics. The Company takes measures as necessary, including requiring collateral on certain
accounts and other solicitation and account management
techniques, to maintain the Company’s credit quality standards and to manage the risk of loss on existing accounts.
For the year ended December 31, 1995, the Company’s
net charge-offs as a percentage of managed consumer loans
was 2.25%. Management believes this was the result of the
significant growth in average balances (47%), the average
age of accounts (51% of accounts, representing 50% of the
total managed loan balance, were less than 18 months old),
prudent solicitation and underwriting processes enhanced
by the application of the information-based strategy.

Net Charge-Offs(1)
Year Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992

$ 3,651,908
132,590
3.63%

$2,940,208
59,618
2.03%

$2,286,684
25,727
1.13%

$2,213,378
26,307
1.19%

$ 772,742
30,560
3.95%

$11,268,461
477,732
4.24%

$9,089,278
204,828
2.25%

$6,197,423
91,648
1.48%

$3,265,565
68,332
2.09%

$1,452,742
75,291
5.18%

Reported:
Average loans outstanding
Net charge-offs
Net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans outstanding

Managed:
Average loans outstanding
Net charge-offs
Net charge-offs as a percentage of average loans outstanding
(1) Includes consumer loans held for securitization.
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Management believes that the allowance for loan losses
is adequate to cover anticipated losses in the on-balance
sheet consumer loan portfolio under current conditions.
There can be no assurance as to future credit losses that
may be incurred in connection with the Company’s consumer loan portfolio, nor can there be any assurance that
the loan loss allowance that has been established by the
Company will be sufficient to absorb such future credit
losses. The allowance is a general allowance applicable to
the on-balance sheet consumer loan portfolio. Table 7 sets
forth the activity in the allowance for loan losses for the
periods indicated. See “Asset Quality,” “Delinquencies” and
“Net Charge-Offs” for a more complete analysis of asset
quality.

Provision and Allowance for Loan Losses
he provision for loan losses is the periodic expense of
maintaining an adequate allowance at the amount
estimated to be sufficient to absorb possible future losses,
net of recoveries (including recovery of collateral), inherent
in the existing on-balance sheet loan portfolio. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses, the
Company takes into consideration several factors including
economic trends and conditions, overall asset quality, loan
seasoning and trends in delinquencies and expected chargeoffs. The Company’s primary guideline is a calculation
which uses current delinquency levels and other measures
of asset quality to estimate net charge-offs. Once a loan is
charged off, it is the Company’s policy to continue to pursue
the recovery of principal and interest.

T

Table 7

Summary of Allowance for Loan Losses
Year Ended December 31

(dollars in thousands)

Balance at beginning of year
Provision for loan losses
Transfer to loans held for securitization
Increase from consumer loan purchase
Charge-offs
Recoveries
Net charge-offs(1)
Balance at end of year

1996

$

72,000

1995

$ 68,516

1994

$ 63,516

1993

1992

$ 55,993

$ 31,541

167,246
(27,887)
9,000
(115,159)
13,300

65,895
(11,504)

30,727
(4,869)

34,030
(2,902)

55,012

(64,260)
13,353

(31,948)
11,090

(39,625)
16,020

(44,666)
14,106

(101,859)
$ 118,500

(50,907)
$ 72,000

(20,858)
$ 68,516

(23,605)
$ 63,516

(30,560)
$ 55,993

Allowance for loan losses to loans
at year-end(1)

2.73%

2.85%

3.07%

3.41%

4.29%

(1) Excludes consumer loans held for securitization.

For the year ended December 31, 1996, the provision for
loan losses increased to $167.2 million, or 154%, from the
1995 provision for loan losses of $65.9 million. The increase
in the provision for loan losses resulted from increases in
average reported consumer loans of 24%, continued loan
seasoning, a shift in the composition of reported consumer
loans and general economic trends in consumer credit performance. Net charge-offs as a percentage of average
reported consumer loans increased to 3.63% for the year
ended December 31, 1996 from 2.03% in the prior year.
Additionally, growth in second generation products which
have modestly higher charge-off rates than first generation
products, increased the amount of provision necessary to
absorb credit losses. In consideration of these factors, the
Company increased the allowance for loan losses by $46.5
million during 1996.
For the year ended December 31, 1995, the increase in
the provision for loan losses resulted from increases in

average reported consumer loans of 37%, continued loan
seasoning, a shift in the composition of reported consumer
loans and a softening in U.S. consumer credit quality. Net
charge-offs as a percentage of average reported consumer
loans increased to 2.03% for the year ended December 31,
1995 from 1.13% in the prior year. The increase in the provision and charge-off rate reflects an 87% increase in the
seller’s interest in securitization trusts to $1.4 billion, or
48%, of the reported average balance for 1995 from
$700 million, or 33%, of the reported average balance for
1994. This seller’s interest represents an undivided interest in the trust receivables in excess of investor certificates
outstanding in the trust. These receivables are generally
more seasoned than the other newer on-balance sheet
loans. In consideration of growth in second generation
products, the Company increased the allowance for loan
losses by $3.5 million during 1995.
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Funding
able 8 reflects the costs of short-term borrowings of the
Company for each of the years ended December 31,
1996, 1995 and 1994.

T

Table 8

Short-Term Borrowings

Following is a summary of the components of short-term borrowings as of and for each of the years ended December 31,
1996, 1995 and 1994:
Maximum
Outstanding at
Any Month-End

(dollars in thousands)

Outstanding
at Year-End

Average
Outstanding

Average
Interest Rate

Year-End
Interest Rate

$ 617,303
207,689

$ 445,600
85,383
$ 530,983

$ 342,354
112,545
$ 454,899

5.63%
8.20
6.27%

6.26%
6.43
6.29%

$1,146,678

$ 709,803

$ 747,350

6.14%

5.76%

1,000,000

100,000

7.26
5.86
6.44%

6.03

$ 809,803

277,945
2,780
$1,028,075

5.79%

$ 686,688

$ 686,688

$

6.18%

6.29%

1,700,000
3,261,506

1,300,000
54,000

175,342
2,064,105

6.89
3.69

6.74
6.00

$2,040,688

$2,286,779

4.00%

6.57%

1996

Federal funds purchased
Other short-term borrowings
Total
1995

Federal funds purchased
Bank facility
Affiliate borrowings
Total
1994

Federal funds purchased
Bank facility
Affiliate borrowings
Total

able 9 shows the maturation of certificates of deposit in
denominations of $100,000 or greater (large denomination CDs) as of December 31, 1996.

T

Table 9

Maturities of Domestic Large
Denomination Certificates —
$100,000 or More
As of December 31, 1996

(dollars in thousands)

Balance

Percent

3 months or less

$155,961
27,293
198,981
$382,235

40.80%
7.14
52.06
100.00%

Over 3 through 6 months
Over 6 through 12 months
Total

In addition to large denomination CDs, as of December
31, 1996, retail deposits of $560.8 million had been raised
through the Savings Bank as an additional source of
company funding.
During 1996, the Company continued its transition to
longer-term financing and established increased access to
the capital markets. As the chart on page 31 indicates,
during 1996 the Company increased its proportion of senior
note maturities in excess of three years. The Company
successfully completed a number of large transactions with
maturities ranging from two to ten years.
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47,332

On November 25, 1996, the Company entered into a
four-year, $1.7 billion unsecured revolving credit arrangement (the “Credit Facility”), which replaced the 1995
Credit Facility, discussed below. The Credit Facility is comprised of two tranches: a $1.375 billion Tranche A facility
available to the Bank and the Savings Bank, including an
option for up to $225 million in multi-currency availability,
and a $325 million Tranche B facility available to the
Corporation, the Bank and the Savings Bank, including an
option for up to $100 million in multi-currency availability.
Each Tranche under the facility is structured as a four-year
commitment and is available for general corporate purposes.
The borrowings of the Savings Bank are limited to $500
million during the first year of the Credit Facility, and $750
million thereafter. The Bank has irrevocably undertaken to
honor any demand by the lenders to repay any borrowings
which are due and payable by the Savings Bank but which
have not been paid. Any borrowing under the Credit
Facility will mature on November 24, 2000; however, the
final maturity of each tranche may be extended for three
additional one-year periods.
On April 30, 1996, the Bank amended and restated its
existing $3.5 billion bank note program. Under the amended
bank note program, the Bank may issue from time to time
up to $4.5 billion of senior bank notes with maturities from
30 days to 30 years and up to $200 million of subordinated

bank notes with maturities from five to 30 years. In 1996,
the Bank issued $200 million in senior bank notes due
September 15, 2006, with an attached three-year, one-time
investor put option that significantly reduced the Company’s
funding costs on this transaction. As of December 31, 1996,
the Company had $3.6 billion in senior bank notes outstanding, a 43% increase from $2.5 billion outstanding as
of December 31, 1995. As of December 31, 1996, bank notes
issued totaling $2.9 billion have fixed interest rates and
mature from one to five years. The Company had previously
entered into interest rate swap agreements (“swaps”) totaling $974 million to effectively convert fixed rates on senior
notes to variable rates which match the variable rates
earned on consumer loans (see “Interest Rate Sensitivity”).
As of December 31, 1996, no subordinated bank notes have
been issued.
The Corporation filed a $200 million shelf registration
statement ($125 million issued as of December 31, 1996)
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 19, 1996 under which the Corporation from
time to time may offer and sell (i) senior or subordinated

Interest-Bearing Liabilities
(in millions)

$415
$943

$696

$1,378
$531
$810

$2,616

$2,077

$5,468

$3,998

December 31,1996

December 31,1995

■
■
■
■

Interest-bearing Deposits
Short-term Borrowings
Senior Notes < 3 years
Senior Notes > 3 years

debt securities consisting of debentures, notes and/or other
unsecured evidences, (ii) preferred stock, which may be
issued in the form of depository shares evidenced by depository receipts and (iii) common stock. The securities will be
limited to $200 million aggregate public offering price or its
equivalent (based on the applicable exchange rate at the
time of sale) in one or more foreign currencies, currency
units or composite currencies as shall be designated by the
Corporation.
Also on April 30, 1996, the Bank established a deposit
note program under which the Bank may issue from time
to time up to $2.0 billion of deposit notes with maturities
from 30 days to 30 years. As of December 31, 1996, the
Company had $300 million in deposit notes outstanding.

Subsequent to year-end, the Bank through a subsidiary
created as a Delaware statutory business trust issued $100
million aggregate amount of Floating Rate Subordinated
Capital Income Securities that mature on February 1, 2027.
The Company’s primary source of funding, securitization
of consumer loans, increased to $8.5 billion as of December
31, 1996 from $7.5 billion as of December 31, 1995. In
1996, the Company securitized $2.7 billion in four transactions, consisting predominantly of LIBOR-based, variablerate deals maturing from 1997 through 2001, $500 million
of which may be extended at the Company’s option until
2004.
In January 1996, the Company implemented a dividend
reinvestment and stock purchase plan (the “DRIP”) to provide existing stockholders with the opportunity to purchase
additional shares of the Company’s common stock by
reinvesting quarterly dividends or making optional cash
investments. The Company uses proceeds from the DRIP
for general corporate purposes.
On November 17, 1995, the Company entered into a
three-year, $1.7 billion unsecured revolving credit arrangement, with three tranches (A,B and C) of committed borrowings (the “1995 Credit Facility”). Under tranches A and
B, the Bank could borrow up to $1.3 billion and $200 million, respectively, subject to an unused commitment fee of
.17%. Tranche B allowed the Bank to borrow in major
foreign currencies. Under Tranche C, the Company or the
Bank could borrow up to $215 million.
For the periods prior to the Separation, the Company
operated as a division of Signet Bank and, therefore, had
no direct, independent funding. For the financial statements for these periods, the Company’s reported interest
expense was determined by taking into account the nature
of the Company’s assets and their interest rate repricing
characteristics and by using an allocation of Signet’s
funding cost for the respective period.
Although the Company expects to reinvest a substantial
portion of its earnings in its business, the Company
intends to continue to pay regular quarterly cash dividends
on the Common Stock. The declaration and payment of dividends, as well as the amount thereof, is subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company and will
depend upon the Company’s results of operations, financial
condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other
factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company
will declare and pay any dividends. As a holding company,
the ability of the Company to pay dividends is dependent
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upon the receipt of dividends or other payments from its
subsidiaries. Banking regulations applicable to the Bank
and the Saving Bank and provisions that may be contained
in borrowing agreements of the Company or its subsidiaries may restrict the ability of the Company’s subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company or the ability of
the Company to pay dividends to its stockholders.

Capital Adequacy
he Bank and the Savings Bank are subject to capital
adequacy guidelines adopted by the Federal Reserve
Board and the Office of Thrift Supervision (the “regulators”), respectively. The capital adequacy guidelines and
the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action
require the Bank and the Savings Bank to attain specific
capital levels based upon quantitative measures of their
assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items as calculated
under Regulatory Accounting Principles. The inability to
meet and maintain minimum capital adequacy levels could
result in regulators taking actions that could have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Additionally, the regulators have broad discretion in applying higher capital requirements. Regulators consider a
range of factors in determining capital adequacy, such as
an institution’s size, quality and stability of earnings, interest rate risk exposure, risk diversification, management
expertise, asset quality, liquidity and internal controls.
The most recent notifications from the regulators categorized the Bank and the Savings Bank as “well capitalized”.
The Bank must maintain minimum Tier 1 Capital, Total
Capital and Tier 1 Leverage ratios of 4%, 8% and 4%, and
the Savings Bank must maintain minimum Tangible
Capital, Total Capital and Core Capital ratios of 1.5%, 8%
and 3%, respectively, under capital adequacy requirements,
and 6%, 10% and 5%, respectively, to be well capitalized
under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective
action. As of December 31, 1996, the Bank’s Tier 1 Capital,
Total Capital and Tier 1 Leverage ratios were 11.61%,
12.87% and 9.04%, respectively. As of December 31, 1996,
the Savings Bank’s Tangible Capital, Total Capital and
Core Capital ratios were 9.18%, 16.29% and 9.18%, respectively. In addition, the Savings Bank is subject for the first
three years of its operations to additional capital requirements, including the requirement to maintain a minimum
Core Capital ratio of 8% and a Total Capital ratio of 12%.
As of December 31, 1996, there are no conditions or events
since the notifications discussed above that Management
believes have changed either the Bank’s or the Savings
Bank’s capital category. The Bank’s ratio of common equity
to managed assets was 4.92%. These capital levels make
the Company among the highest capitalized institutions in
the credit card sector.
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During 1996, the Bank received regulatory approval to
establish a branch office in the United Kingdom. In connection with such approval, the Company committed to the
Federal Reserve Board that, for so long as the Bank maintains such branch in the United Kingdom, the Company will
maintain a minimum Tier 1 leverage ratio of 3.0%. As of
December 31, 1996, the Company’s Tier 1 leverage ratio was
11.13%.
Additionally, certain regulatory restrictions exist which
limit the ability of the Bank and the Savings Bank to transfer funds to the Corporation. As of December 31, 1996,
retained earnings of the Bank and the Savings Bank of
$113.7 million and $4.6 million, respectively, were available
for payment of dividends to the Corporation, without prior
approval by the regulators. The Savings Bank is required to
give the Office of Thrift Supervision at least 30 days’
advance notice of any proposed dividend.

Off-Balance Sheet Risk
he Company is subject to off-balance sheet risk in the
normal course of business including commitments to
extend credit, excess servicing income from securitization
and interest rate swaps. In order to reduce the interest rate
sensitivity and to match asset and liability repricing, the
Company has entered into swaps which involve elements of
credit or interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized on the balance sheet. Swaps present the Company
with certain credit, market, legal and operational risks. The
Company has established credit policies for off-balance
sheet items as it does for on-balance sheet instruments.

T

Interest Rate Sensitivity
nterest rate sensitivity refers to the change in earnings
that may result from changes in the level of interest rates.
To the extent that interest income and interest expense do
not respond equally to changes in interest rates, or that all
rates do not change uniformly, earnings will be affected.
Prior to the Separation, the Company’s interest rate sensitivity was managed by Signet, as part of Signet’s overall
asset and liability management process at the corporate
level, not at the divisional level.
In determining interest rate sensitivity, the Company
uses simulation models to identify changes in net interest
income based on different interest rate scenarios. The
Company manages its interest rate sensitivity through several techniques which include changing the maturity and
distribution of assets and liabilities, the impact of securitizations, interest rate swaps, repricing of consumer loans
and other methods.

I

The Company’s asset/liability policy is to manage interest rate risk to limit the impact of an immediate and
sustained 100 basis point change in interest rates to no
more than a 5% change in managed net interest income
over a twelve month period. As of December 31, 1996, the
Company’s interest rate sensitivity to this change in rates
was 2.09%, which was substantially within Company
guidelines. Management may reprice interest rates on outstanding credit card loans subject to the right of the customers in certain states to reject such repricing by

Table 10

giving timely written notice to the Company and thereby
relinquishing charging privileges. However, the repricing of
consumer loans may be limited by competitive factors as
well as certain legal bounds.
Interest rate sensitivity at a point in time can also be
analyzed by measuring the mismatch in balances of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities that are subject
to repricing in future periods. Table 10 reflects the interest
rate repricing schedule for earning assets and interestbearing liabilities as of December 31, 1996.

Interest Rate Sensitivity
As of December 31,1996
Subject to Repricing
Within
180 Days

(dollars in millions)

> 180 Days1 Year

> 1 Year5 Years

Over
5 Years

Earning assets

$

Federal funds sold

450

Consumer loans

30
479
2,189

$ 569

367
1,586

Total earning assets

3,148

569

1,953

39

559

Senior and deposit notes

345
531
1,054

161

2,439

340

Total interest-bearing liabilities

1,930

200

2,998

1,218
(1,580)
(2,145)

369
539
215

(1,045)
1,041
1,930

340
(234)
(542)

Interest-bearing deposits at other banks
Securities available for sale

$

$
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Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing deposits
Short-term borrowings

Non-rate related net assets
Interest sensitivity gap
Impact of swaps
Impact of consumer loan securitzations
Interest sensitivity gap adjusted for impact of securitization and swaps
Adjusted interest sensitivity gap as a percentage of managed assets
Cumulative interest sensitivity gap
Adjusted cumulative interest sensitivity gap as a percentage of managed assets

The Company entered into swaps for purposes of managing its interest rate sensitivity. The Company designates
swaps to on-balance sheet instruments to alter the interest
rate characteristics of such instruments and to modify
interest rate sensitivity. The Company also designates
swaps to off-balance sheet items to reduce interest rate
sensitivity. Table 11 reflects the type and terms of outstanding interest rate swaps as of December 31, 1996 and
1995.
The Company entered into swaps to effectively convert
certain of the bank notes from fixed to variable. The swaps,
which had a notional amount totaling $974 million as of
December 31, 1996, will mature in 1997 through 2000 to
coincide with maturities of fixed bank notes. As of
December 31, 1996, these swaps paid three-month LIBOR
at a weighted average contractual rate of 5.59% and
received a weighted average fixed rate of 7.71%.

$(2,507)
(16.80)%

$1,123
7.52%

$ 1,926
12.90%

$(2,507)
(16.80)%

$(1,384)
(9.27)%

$

)

)

542
3.63%
)

$ (542)
(3.63)%
0.00%
)

The Company has entered into swaps to reduce the
interest rate sensitivity associated with its securitizations.
In 1995, the Company entered into swaps with notional
amounts totaling $591 million which are scheduled to
mature in 1998 and 1999 to coincide with the final payment date of a 1993 securitization. In 1994, the Company
entered into swaps with notional amounts totaling
$539 million which are scheduled to mature in 1997 to
coincide with the final payment date of the remaining term
of a 1994 securitization. These swaps paid floating rates of
three-month LIBOR (weighted average contractual rate
of 5.55% and 5.78% as of December 31, 1996 and 1995,
respectively) and received a weighted average fixed rate of
7.23% as of December 31, 1996 and 1995.
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Table 11

Maturity of Interest Rate Swaps(1)
Within
One
Year

Over One
to Five
Years

Total

$1,063
7.36%

$1,041
7.55%

$2,104
7.45%

5.55

5.59

5.57

$2,104
7.45%
5.73

$2,144
7.45%
5.73

2.03

$ 260
5.84%
5.94

0.56

(dollars in millions)

Average
Life
(Years)

Receive fixed/pay floating:
December 31, 1996
Notional amount
Weighted average rates received
Weighted average rates paid

1.15

December 31, 1995

$

Notional amount
Weighted average rates received
Weighted average rates paid

40
7.07%
5.88

Received floating/pay floating:
December 31, 1995

$ 260
5.84%
5.94

Notional amount
Weighted average rates received
Weighted average rates paid

(1) Weighted average rates received and paid are based on the contractual rates in effect as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively. Floating rates under the
swap contracts are based on varying terms of LIBOR.

Liquidity

Table 12 reflects a roll forward of activity by notional
amount for the Company’s swaps.

Table 12

Summary of Interest Rate Swaps

(dollars in millions)

Notional
Amount

Receive floating/pay fixed:
December 31, 1994
Additions
Maturities
December 31, 1995

$4,800
4,800
$

–

Receive fixed/pay floating:
December 31, 1994
Additions
December 31, 1995
Maturities
December 31, 1996

$ 539
1,605
2,144
40
$2,104

Receive floating/pay floating:
December 31, 1994
Additions
December 31, 1995
Maturities
December 31, 1996

$

–
260
260
260
$
–

Swaps designated to on-balance sheet assets and liabilities had the effect of increasing net interest income $20.0
million, $15.9 million, and $0.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, from that
which would have been recorded had the Company not
entered into these transactions. Swaps designated to offbalance sheet items had the effect of increasing servicing
income $18.0 million, $12.7 million and $1.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.
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iquidity refers to the Company’s ability to meet its cash
needs. The Company meets its cash requirements by
securitizing assets and by debt funding. As discussed in
“Managed Consumer Loan Portfolio,” a significant source of
liquidity for the Company has been the securitization of
credit card loans. Maturity terms of the existing securitizations vary from 1997 to 2001 (extendable to 2004) and typically have accumulation periods during which principal payments are aggregated to make payments to investors. As
payments on the loans are accumulated for the participants in the securitization and are no longer reinvested in
new loans, the Company’s funding requirements for such
new loans increase accordingly. The occurrence of certain
events may cause the securitization transactions to amortize earlier than scheduled which would accelerate the
need for funding.
Table 13 shows the amounts of investor principal of
securitized credit card loans that will amortize or be otherwise paid off over the periods indicated based on outstanding securitized credit card loans as of January 1, 1997. As
of December 31, 1996 and 1995, 66% and 72%, respectively,
of the Company’s total managed loans were securitized.
The Company believes that it can securitize consumer
loans, purchase federal funds and establish other funding
sources to fund the amortization or other payment of the
securitizations in the future, although no assurance can be
given to that effect. Additionally, the Company maintains a

L

portfolio of high-quality securities such as U.S.
Government securities, interest-bearing deposits with
other banks and overnight federal funds in order to provide
adequate liquidity and to meet its ongoing cash needs. As
of December 31, 1996, the Company had $1.0 billion of cash
and cash equivalents and securities available for sale with
maturities of 90 days or less.
Liability liquidity is measured by the Company’s ability
to obtain borrowed funds in the financial markets in adequate amounts and at favorable rates. As of December 31,
1996, the Company, the Bank and the Savings Bank
collectively had $1.7 billion in unused commitments under
the credit facility available for liquidity needs.

Liquid Assets
(in millions)

$450

$465
$413

$865
$79
$407

$1,394

$1,285

December 31,1996

December 31,1995

■ Federal Funds Sold
■ Cash and Interest-bearing Deposits
■ Securities Available for Sale

Table 13

Securitizations – Scheduled Amortization Table

(dollars in thousands)

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001-2004

Beginning balance, January 1

$8,460,067

$7,367,986

$4,656,588

$3,824,468

$1,830,764

Less repayment amounts

1,092,081
$7,367,986

2,711,398
$4,656,588

832,120
$3,824,468

1,993,704
$1,830,764

1,830,764
$
–

Ending balance, December 31

Business Outlook
his business outlook section summarizes the
Company’s expectations for earnings for the year ending December 31, 1997 and its primary goals and strategies
for continued growth. The statements contained in this
section are based on management’s current expectations.
Certain of the statements are forward looking statements
and, therefore, actual results could differ materially.
Factors which could materially influence results are set
forth in the last paragraph of this section and in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996 (Part I, Item I, Cautionary Statements).
The Company has set a target that its earnings per
share for the year ending December 31, 1997 will increase
by approximately 20% over earnings per share for the year
ended December 31, 1996. As discussed above, the Company’s
actual earnings are a function of its revenues (interest
income and non-interest income on its earning assets), consumer usage patterns, credit quality of its earning assets,
solicitation expenses and operating expenses. Each of these
in turn are subject to the factors discussed in this section.
The Company’s strategy for future growth has been, and
it is expected to continue to be, to apply its proprietary IBS
to its credit card business as well as to other businesses,
both financial and non-financial, to identify new product
opportunities and to make informed investment decisions
regarding its existing products. See the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996
for a further description of the Company’s IBS (Part I, Item
1, Business).

T

Historically, the Company has concentrated its efforts on
credit card opportunities. These opportunities have included,
and are expected to continue to include, various first
generation low-rate balance transfer products, as well as
second generation credit card products. Generally, these
second generation products tend to have lower credit lines,
balances that build over time, less attrition, higher margins (including fees), higher operational costs and, in some
cases, higher delinquencies and credit losses than the
Company’s traditional low-rate balance transfer products.
In general, these second generation products have had
overall higher returns than the traditional balance transfer
products in recent market conditions. The Company uses
its IBS in an effort to balance the mix of credit card products to optimize profitability within the context of acceptable risk. The Company continues to test market a wide
variety of first and second generation credit card products.
The Company believes that its testing approach will enable
it to react effectively as general market conditions change.
In this manner, the Company intends to remain flexible in
the allocation of marketing expenses spent on specific products to take advantage of market opportunities as they
emerge and will make its marketing decisions based on the
then current market conditions. As a result, the Company
expects to continue to offer a variety of first and second
generation credit card products; however, the mix of such
products in the Company’s portfolio may vary significantly
over time.
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The Company expects to increase its solicitation (marketing) expenses in 1997, as compared to 1996, and to
invest in existing and new first and second generation
products as marketing opportunities develop. These opportunities are subject to a variety of external and internal
factors that may affect the actual amount of solicitation
expense, such as competition in the credit card industry,
general economic conditions affecting consumer credit performance and the asset quality of the Company’s portfolio.
Moreover, the first generation and second generation products have different account growth, loan growth and asset
quality characteristics. As a result, although the Company
expects that its growth in consumer accounts and managed
consumer loan growth will continue in 1997, actual growth
may vary significantly depending on the actual mix of products that the Company may offer in 1997.
The Company currently expects continued increases in
the delinquency and net charge-off rates of its portfolio.
Actual amount of increases will be affected by continued
seasoning of the portfolio, general economic trends in
consumer credit and the product mix. To the extent the
Company markets first generation products and experiences greater consumer loan growth, the increases in delinquency and net charge-off rates will be less, as delinquencies
and net charge-off characteristics of new portfolios generally
are lower than more seasoned portfolios. However, because
second generation products generally have higher delinquencies and net charge-offs than first generation products,
to the extent the Company increases the proportion of
second generation products in its portfolio, the increases in
delinquency and net charge-off rates will be greater. These
factors notwithstanding, the Company believes that the
credit quality of its portfolio is enhanced as a result of the
application of IBS.
The Company also has been applying, and expects to
continue applying, its IBS to other financial products and
non-financial products (“third generation products”). The
Company has established the Savings Bank and several
non-bank operating subsidiaries to identify and explore
new product opportunities. The Company is in various
stages of developing and test marketing a number of new
products or services including, but not limited to, selected
non-card consumer lending products and the reselling of
telecommunication services. During 1996, the Company
allocated an increased percentage of its marketing expenses to non-card products or services. To date, only a relatively small dollar percentage of assets and a relatively small
percentage of accounts have been generated as a result of
such expenditures. As the Company continues to apply its
IBS to non-card opportunities and builds the infrastructure
necessary to support new businesses, the Company expects
that it may increase the percentage of its 1997 marketing
and operating expenses attributable to such businesses.
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The Company expects to maintain a flexible approach to
its marketing investment. The Company intends to continue
applying its IBS to all products, even established products
and businesses, and the results of ongoing testing will
influence the amount and allocation of future marketing
investment. Management believes that, through the continued application of IBS, the Company can develop product
and service offerings to sustain growth and that it has the
personnel, financial resources and business strategy necessary for continued success. However, as the Company
attempts to apply IBS to diversify and expand its product
offerings beyond credit cards, there can be no assurance
that the historical financial information of the Company
will necessarily reflect the results of operations and financial condition of the Company in the future. The Company’s
actual results will be influenced by, among other things,
the factors discussed in this section.
The Company’s strategies and objectives outlined above
and the other forward looking statements contained in this
section involve a number of risks and uncertainties. The
Company cautions readers that any forward looking information is not a guarantee of future performance and that
actual results could differ materially. In addition to the factors discussed above, among the other factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially are the following:
continued intense competition from numerous providers of
products and services which compete with the Company’s
businesses; with respect to financial products, changes in
the Company’s aggregate accounts or consumer loan balances and the growth rate thereof, including changes
resulting from factors such as shifting product mix, amount
of actual marketing expenses made by the Company and
attrition of accounts and loan balances; an increase in credit losses (including increases due to a worsening of general
economic conditions); difficulties or delays in the development, production, testing and marketing of new products
or services; losses associated with new products or services;
financial, legal, regulatory or other difficulties that may
affect investment in, or the overall performance of a product or business; the amount of, and rate of growth in, the
Company’s expenses (including associate and marketing
expenses) as the Company’s business develops or changes
or as it expands into new market areas; the availability of
capital necessary to fund the Company’s new businesses;
the ability of the Company to build the operational and
organizational infrastructure necessary to engage in new
businesses; the ability of the Company to recruit experienced personnel to assist in the management and operations of new products and services; and other factors listed
from time to time in the Company’s SEC reports, including
but not limited to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 1996 (Part I, Item 1, Cautionary
Statements).

Selected Quarterly Financial Data
1995

1996
(unaudited)

Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

$201,353
87,784
113,569
63,035

$188,235
81,581
106,654
53,933

$137,753
63,300
74,453
25,110

$133,142
62,334
70,808
25,168

$134,997
69,941
65,056
21,347

$128,913
69,252
59,661
18,652

$104,432
59,210
45,222
17,260

$ 89,067
50,993
38,074
8,636

50,534
214,961
200,575
64,920
24,670

52,721
206,716
196,823
62,614
23,793

49,343
170,599
159,334
60,608
22,425

45,640
171,148
156,450
60,338
22,325

43,709
151,234
135,834
59,109
21,301

41,009
136,860
124,808
53,061
19,113

27,962
134,789
116,432
46,319
16,673

29,438
130,160
120,356
39,242
14,133

$ 40,250

$ 38,821

$ 38,183

$ 38,013

$ 37,808

$ 33,948

$ 29,646

$ 25,109

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Summary of Operations
(in thousands)

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after
provision for loan losses
Non-interest income
Non-interest expense
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income

Per Common Share
Net income
Dividends

.60
.08

.58
.08

.57
.08

.57
.08

.57
.08

.51
.08

.45
.08

.38

Market prices
High

365/8

317/8

321/8

277/8

291/4

295/8

221/2

20

Low

297/8

257/8

25

217/8

223/4

191/2

181/4

153/8

67,643

67,058

66,806

66,710

66,727

66,466

66,251

Average common and common equivalent
shares (000’s)

66,893

Average Balance Sheet Data
(in millions)

Consumer loans

$

Allowance for loan losses
Securities
Other assets
Total assets
Interest-bearing deposits

$
$

Short-term borrowings
Senior and deposit notes
Other liabilities
Stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and equity

$

4,648
(105)
1,164
929
6,636
1,298
472
3,843
290
733
6,636

$

$
$

$

3,955
(81)
1,228
990
6,092
1,234
466
3,435
259
698
6,092

$

$
$

$

3,249
(74)
933
793
4,901
789
349
2,875
244
644
4,901

$

$
$

$

2,742
(74)
1,302
721
4,691
859
527
2,510
164
631
4,691

$

$
$

$

3,166
(74)
1,248
704
5,044
843
935
2,492
183
591
5,044

$

$
$

$

3,333
(70)
926
775
4,964
899
956
2,322
232
555
4,964

$

$
$

$

2,883
(68)
853
494
4,162
741
843
1,854
196
528
4,162

$

$
$

$

2,365
(67)
805
473
3,576
591
1,384
1,008
95
498
3,576

The above schedule is a tabulation of the Company’s unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 1996 and 1995. The Company’s common shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol COF. In addition, shares may be traded in the over-the-counter stock market. There were
14,562 and 13,247 common stockholders of record as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively.

Capital One

37

Management’s Report on Consolidated Financial
Statements and Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
he Management of Capital One Financial Corporation
is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair
presentation of the financial statements and footnotes
contained in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and are free of material
misstatement. The Company also prepared other information included in this Annual Report and is responsible for
its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.
In situations where financial information must be based
upon estimates and judgments, they represent the best
estimates and judgments of Management.
The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by the Company’s independent public accountants, Ernst &
Young LLP, whose independent professional opinion appears
separately. Their audit provides an objective assessment of
the degree to which the Company’s Management meets its
responsibility for financial reporting. Their opinion on the
financial statements is based on auditing procedures which
include reviewing accounting systems and internal controls
and performing selected tests of transactions and records
as they deem appropriate. These auditing procedures are
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.
Management depends on its accounting systems and
internal controls in meeting its responsibilities for reliable
consolidated financial statements. In Management’s
opinion, these systems and controls provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are properly recorded and executed in accordance
with Management’s authorizations. As an integral part of
these systems and controls, the Company maintains a professional staff of internal auditors that conducts operational and special audits and coordinates audit coverage
with the independent auditors.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed solely of outside directors, meets periodically with
the internal auditors, the independent auditors and
Management to review the work of each and ensure that
each is properly discharging its responsibilities. The independent auditors have free access to the Committee to

T
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discuss the results of their audit work and their evaluations of the adequacy of accounting systems and internal
controls and the quality of financial reporting.
There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of
internal controls, including the possibility of human error
or the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly,
even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to reliability of financial statements
and safeguarding of assets. Furthermore, because of
changes in conditions, internal control effectiveness may
vary over time.
The Company assessed its internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 1996, in relation to the
criteria described in the “Internal Control-Integrated
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
assessment, the Company believes that as of December 31,
1996, in all material respects, the Company maintained
effective internal controls over financial reporting.

Richard D. Fairbank
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Nigel W. Morris
President and Chief Operating Officer

James M. Zinn
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Report of Independent Auditors
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Capital One Financial Corporation
e have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Capital One Financial Corporation as
of December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 1996. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Capital One Financial
Corporation at December 31, 1996 and 1995, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
1996, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.

W

Washington, D.C.
January 21, 1997
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

1995

1996

Assets:
Cash and due from banks
Federal funds sold
Interest-bearing deposits at other banks
Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available for sale
Consumer loans held for securitization
Consumer loans
Less: Allowance for loan losses
Net loans
Premises and equipment, net
Interest receivable
Accounts receivable from securitizations
Other assets
Total assets

$

48,724

$

51,680

450,000

465,000

30,252

355,780

528,976

872,460

865,001

413,016
400,000

4,343,902
(118,500)

2,521,679
(72,000)

4,225,402

2,449,679

174,661

139,074

78,590

55,573

502,520

359,379

92,295

70,140

$6,467,445

$4,759,321

$ 943,022

$ 696,037

530,983

809,803

3,694,237

2,491,869

Liabilities:
Interest-bearing deposits
Short-term borrowings
Senior notes
Deposit notes
Interest payable
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

299,996
80,362

73,931

178,454

88,490

5,727,054

4,160,130

Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized
50,000,000 shares, none issued or outstanding
Common stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized
300,000,000 shares, 66,325,261 and 66,174,567
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1996 and
1995, respectively
Paid-in capital, net
Retained earnings
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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663

662

481,383

469,830

258,345

128,699

740,391

599,191

$6,467,445

$4,759,321

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

Interest Income:
Consumer loans, including fees
Federal funds sold
Other
Total interest income

1996

Year Ended December 31
1995
1994

$592,088

$397,654

$255,115

21,293

26,832

2,483

47,102

32,923

1,074

660,483

457,409

258,672

56,272

49,547

2,364

28,509

66,214

91,278

210,218

133,635

53

294,999

249,396

93,695

365,484

208,013

164,977

Interest Expense:
Deposits
Short-term borrowings
Senior and deposit notes
Total interest expense
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision for loan losses

167,246

65,895

30,727

198,238

142,118

134,250

459,833

409,927

312,108

218,988

86,029

46,083

51,399

33,457

25,580

Non-Interest Income:
Servicing
Service charges
Interchange
Other
Total non-interest income

33,204

23,630

13,131

763,424

553,043

396,902

215,155

135,833

94,739

206,620

146,810

100,886

76,841

61,508

70,084

60,053

42,081

21,794

22,330

13,655

6,746

132,183

97,543

41,076

713,182

497,430

384,325

248,480

197,731

146,827

93,213

71,220

51,564

$155,267

$126,511

$ 95,263

$

2.30

$

1.90

$

$

.32

$

.24

Non-Interest Expense:
Salaries and associate benefits
Solicitation
Communications and data processing
Supplies and equipment
Occupancy
Contract termination
Other
Total non-interest expense
Income before income taxes
Income taxes
Net income
Earnings per share
Dividends paid per share
Weighted average common and common equivalent
shares outstanding

49,000

67,588

66,593

1.44

66,067

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in
Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Balance, December 31, 1993
Net income
Recapitalization and capital
contribution from Signet
Issuance of common stock
Initial public offering
Restricted stock grants
Amortization of deferred compensation
Change in unrealized losses on
securities available for sale,
net of income taxes of $12
Balance, December 31, 1994
Net income
Cash dividends - $.24 per share
Issuance of common stock
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit from stock awards
Restricted stock, net
Amortization of deferred compensation
Change in unrealized gains on
securities available for sale,
net of income taxes of $3,780
Balance, December 31, 1995
Net income
Cash dividends - $.32 per share
Issuance of common stock
Exercise of stock options
Tax benefit from stock awards
Restricted stock, net
Amortization of deferred compensation
Common stock issuable under
incentive plan
Foreign currency translation
Change in unrealized gains on
securities available for sale,
net of income taxes of $2,647
Balance, December 31, 1996
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Shares

Amount

Paid-in
Capital, Net

$357,875
65,602,850

$656

464,400

5

Retained
Earnings/
Division Equity

Total
Stockholders’/
Division Equity

$ 168,879

$168,879

95,263

95,263

(253,069)

104,806

101,259

101,915

(5)
3,715

3,715

(21)
66,067,250

65,645

661

1

6,582

462,844

(21)

11,052

474,557

126,511

126,511

(15,883)

(15,883)

1,256

1,257

132

132

1,578

1,578

4,020

4,020

35,090

7,019
66,174,567

139,858

662

1

11,500

469,830

7,019

128,699

599,191

155,267

155,267

(20,573)

(20,573)

3,108

3,109

186

186

338

338

193

193

(664)

7,728

66,325,261

$663

$481,383

7,728
(132)

(132)

(4,916)

(4,916)

$ 258,345

$740,391

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

1996

Year Ended December 31
1995

1994

Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash
provided by operating activities:
Provision for loan losses
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation plans
Increase in interest receivable
Increase in accounts receivable from securitizations
Increase in other assets
Increase in interest payable
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

$

155,267

$ 126,511

$

95,263

167,246

65,895

30,727

41,894

33,424

16,173

7,921

4,020

3,715

(23,017)

(40,958)

(6,322)

(143,141)

(122,364)

(129,967)

(27,246)

(8,685)

(35,645)

6,431

64,667

9,264

89,964

(4,780)

62,406

275,319

117,730

45,614

(945,027)

(403,218)

(98,519)

490,813

100,000

Investing Activities:
Purchases of securities available for sale
Proceeds from maturities of securities available for sale
Proceeds from securitization of consumer loans
Net increase in loans
Recoveries of loans previously charged off
Additions of premises and equipment, net
Net cash used for investing activities

2,695,000

3,525,000

2,393,937

(4,251,269)

(4,293,988)

(2,796,465)

13,300

13,353

11,090

(74,871)

(61,623)

(58,078)

(2,072,054)

(1,120,476)

(548,035)

Financing Activities:
Net increase in interest-bearing deposits
Net (decrease) increase in short-term borrowings
Issuances of senior and deposit notes
Maturities of senior and deposit notes
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Dividends paid
Capital contributed from Signet
Net cash provided by financing activities
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

246,985
(278,820)
2,105,864

243,836

452,201

(1,230,885)

249,224

2,469,869

22,000

(603,500)
186

132

3,109

1,257

(20,573)

(15,883)

101,915
83,006

1,453,251

$

1,468,326

908,346

(343,484)

465,580

405,925

872,460

406,880

955

528,976

$ 872,460

$ 406,880

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Note A

Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Basis of Presentation: The consolidated

financial statements include the accounts of Capital One
Financial Corporation (the “Corporation”) and its subsidiaries. The Corporation is a holding company whose
subsidiaries provide a variety of products and services to
consumers. The principal subsidiaries are Capital One
Bank (the “Bank”) which offers credit card products and
Capital One, F.S.B. (the “Savings Bank”), which was established in 1996, and provides certain consumer lending and
deposit services. The Corporation and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as the “Company.”
Prior to November 1994, the Company operated as the
credit card division of Signet Bank, a wholly owned subsidiary of Signet Banking Corporation (“Signet”). On
November 22, 1994, Signet Bank contributed designated
assets and liabilities of its credit card division and approximately $358,000 of equity capital into the Bank (the
“Separation”).
The historic financial statements for the Company for
the periods prior to November 22, 1994 have been prepared
based upon the transfer of assets and assumption of liabilities contemplated by an agreement entered into among the
Corporation, Signet and Signet Bank at the time of the
Separation (the “Separation Agreement”). Prior to the
Separation, the operations of the Company were conducted
as a division within Signet Bank, to which Signet and its
various subsidiaries had provided significant financial and
operational support. As of December 31, 1996, substantially
all services previously performed by Signet were performed
by the Company.
The following is a summary of the significant accounting
policies used in preparing the accompanying financial
statements.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents

includes cash and due from banks, federal funds sold and
interest-bearing deposits at other banks. Cash paid for
interest for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and
1994, was $288,568, $184,729 and $84,431, respectively.
Cash paid for income taxes for the years ended
December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, was $107,065, $82,561
and $46,094, respectively.
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Securities Available for Sale: Debt securities for which the
Company does not have the positive intent and ability to
hold to maturity are classified as securities available for
sale. These securities are stated at fair value, with the
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a component of retained earnings. The amortized cost of debt
securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization is
included in other interest income.
Consumer Loans Held for Securitization: Consumer loans
held for securitization are loans management intends to
securitize, generally within three to six months, and are
carried at the lower of aggregate cost or market value.
Consumer Loans: Interest income is generally recognized
until a loan is charged off. Consumer loans are typically
charged off (net of any collateral) in the next billing cycle
after becoming 180 days past-due, although earlier chargeoffs may occur on accounts of bankrupt or deceased
customers. Bankrupt customers’ accounts are generally
charged off within 30 days of verification. The accrued
interest portion of a charged off loan balance is deducted
from current period interest income with the remaining
principal balance charged off against the allowance for loan
losses. Annual membership fees and direct loan origination
costs are deferred and amortized over one year on a
straight-line basis. Deferred fees (net of deferred costs)
were $58,059 and $33,438 as of December 31, 1996 and
1995, respectively.
Allowance for Loan Losses: The allowance for loan losses

is maintained at the amount estimated to be sufficient to
absorb possible future losses, net of recoveries (including
recovery of collateral), inherent in the existing on-balance
sheet loan portfolio. The provision for loan losses is the
periodic cost of maintaining an adequate allowance. In
evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses,
management takes into consideration several of the following factors: historical charge-off and recovery activity (noting any particular trend changes over recent periods);
trends in delinquencies; trends in loan volume and size of
credit risks; the degree of risk inherent in the composition
of the loan portfolio; current and anticipated economic
conditions; credit evaluations and underwriting policies.

Securitizations: The Company securitizes credit card loans
and records such securitizations as sales in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 77, “Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of
Receivables with Recourse.” Due to the relatively short
average life of credit card loans securitized (approximately
8 to 12 months), no gains are recorded at the time of sale.
Rather, excess servicing fees related to the securitizations
are recorded over the life of each sale transaction. The
excess servicing fee is based upon the difference between
finance charges received from the cardholders less the yield
paid to investors, credit losses and a normal servicing fee,
which is also retained by the Company. In accordance with
the sale agreements, a fixed amount of excess servicing fees
is set aside to absorb potential credit losses. Accounts
receivable from securitization principally represents excess
servicing fees earned and due to the Company. Transaction
expenses are deferred and amortized over the reinvestment
period of the transaction as a reduction of loan servicing
fees. The monthly pattern of recording loan servicing fees is
similar to the revenue recognition that the Company would
have experienced if the loans had not been securitized.
In June 1996, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 125 (“SFAS 125”),
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets
and Extinguishments of Liabilities,” which establishes the
accounting for certain financial asset transfers including
securitization transactions. SFAS 125 requires an entity,
after a transfer of financial assets that meets the criteria
for sale accounting, to recognize the financial and servicing
assets it controls and the liabilities it has incurred and to
derecognize financial assets for which control has been
surrendered. The provisions of SFAS 125 are effective
January 1, 1997. Based on the anticipated performance of
securitization transactions the Company has undertaken,
the Company does not believe the adoption of the new
standard will have a material impact on the Company’s
financial statements.
Premises and Equipment: Premises and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization ($99,104 and $61,452 as of December 31, 1996 and
1995, respectively). Depreciation and amortization expense
are computed generally by the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets.

Solicitation: The Company expenses the costs related to
the solicitation of new accounts as incurred.
Credit Card Fraud Losses: The Company experiences fraud

losses from the unauthorized use of credit cards.
Transactions suspected of being fraudulent are charged to
non-interest expense after a 60-day investigation period.
Income Taxes: Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting
and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured
using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse.
Earnings Per Share: Earnings per share are based on the
weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares, including dilutive stock options and restricted
stock outstanding during the year, after giving retroactive
effect to the initial capitalization of the Company as if the
issuance of all shares had occurred on January 1, 1994.
Income that would have been generated from the proceeds
of the Company’s common stock on November 22, 1994 was
not considered in the calculation of earnings per share.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements: The Company enters into
interest rate swap agreements (“swaps”) for purposes of
managing its interest rate sensitivity. The Company designates swaps to on-balance sheet instruments to alter the
interest rate characteristics of such instruments and to
modify interest rate sensitivity. The Company also designates swaps to off-balance sheet items to reduce the interest rate sensitivity associated with off-balance sheet cash
flows (i.e., securitizations).
Swaps involve the periodic exchange of payments over
the life of the agreements. Amounts received or paid on
swaps that are used to manage interest rate sensitivity and
alter the interest rate characteristics of on-balance sheet
instruments or reduce interest rate sensitivity associated
with off-balance sheet items are recorded on an accrual
basis as an adjustment to the related income or expense of
the item to which the agreements are designated. The
related amount receivable from counterparties of $41,548
and $26,652 as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively,
was included in other assets. Changes in the fair value of
swaps are not reflected in the accompanying financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

The Company’s credit exposure on swaps is limited to
the value of the swaps that have become favorable to the
Company in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties. The Company does not require collateral from
counterparties on its existing agreements. The Company
actively monitors the credit ratings of counterparties and
does not anticipate nonperformance by the counterparties
with which it transacts its swaps.

Note B

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements

in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Securities Available for Sale

Securities available for sale as of December 31, 1996 were as follows:
Maturity Schedule
1 Year
or less

Commercial Paper
U.S. Government Agency Discount Notes
U.S. Treasury Notes

1-5
Years

Market
Value
Totals

Amortized
Cost
Totals

$ 84,297
243,302

$ 84,297
243,258

$20,834

504,961
20,834

501,916
20,479

11,607
$32,441

11,607
$865,001

11,849
$861,799

Over 10
Years

$ 84,297
243,302
150,281

$354,680

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Mortgage Backed Securities

$477,880

$354,680

Weighted Average Yields
1 Year
or less

Commercial Paper
U.S. Government Agency Discount Notes
U.S. Treasury Notes

5.90%
5.54
7.08

1-5
Years

7.11%
6.99%

Collateralized Mortgage Obligations
Mortgage Backed Securities

6.09%

Securities available for sale as of December 31, 1995
consisted of U.S. Government obligations maturing in
1997 and 1998, which had an amortized cost of $402,250,
a fair value of $413,016 and a weighted average yield
of 7.15%.
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Over 10
Years

7.11%

7.02
7.00%

Securities available for sale as of December 31, 1994
consisted of a U.S. Government obligation that matured
in March 1995 and had an amortized cost of $99,103, a
fair value of $99,070 and a yield of 5.39%.

Note C

Allowance for Loan Losses

The following is a summary of changes in the allowance for
loan losses:
Year Ended December 31
1995

1994

72,000

$ 68,516

$ 63,516

167,246

65,895

30,727

(27,887)

(11,504)

(4,869)

(64,260)
13,353
(50,907)
$ 72,000

(31,948)
11,090
(20,858)
$ 68,516

1996

$

Balance at beginning of year
Provision for loan losses
Transfer to loans held for
securitization
Increase from consumer loan

9,000

purchase

(115,159)
13,300
(101,859)
$ 118,500

Charge-offs
Recoveries
Net charge-offs
Balance at end of year

Note D

Borrowings

Borrowings as of December 31, 1996 and 1995 were
as follows:
1995

1996

Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Rate

Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Rate

$ 943,022

4.31%

$ 696,037

6.07%

$ 445,600

6.26%

$ 709,803

5.76%

Interest-

bearing deposits
Short-term
borrowings

Federal funds
purchased

100,000

Credit facility
Other
Total

85,383

6.03

6.43

$ 530,983

$ 809,803

Senior notes

Bank - fixed rate

$3,140,237

7.31%

Bank - variable rate

429,000
125,000
$3,694,237

5.99
7.25

$ 224,996

6.71%
5.86

Corporation
Total

$1,804,869

687,000

7.74%
6.33

$2,491,869

Deposit notes

Fixed rate
Variable rate
Total

75,000
$ 299,996

On November 25, 1996, the Company entered into a
four-year, $1,700,000 unsecured revolving credit arrangement (the “Credit Facility”), which replaced the 1995
Credit Facility, discussed below. The Credit Facility is com-

prised of two tranches: a $1,375,000 Tranche A facility
available to the Bank and the Savings Bank, including an
option for up to $225,000 in multi-currency availability,
and a $325,000 Tranche B facility available to the
Corporation, the Bank and the Savings Bank, including an
option for up to $100,000 in multi-currency availability.
Each tranche under the facility is structured as a four-year
commitment and will be available for general corporate
purposes. The borrowings of the Savings Bank are limited
to $500,000 during the first year of the Credit Facility and
$750,000 thereafter. The Bank has irrevocably undertaken
to honor any demand by the lenders to repay any borrowings which are due and payable by the Savings Bank but
which have not been paid. Any borrowing under the Credit
Facility will mature on November 24, 2000; however, the
final maturity of each tranche may be extended for three
additional one-year periods.
On April 30, 1996, the Bank amended and restated its
existing $3,500,000 bank note program. Under the amended
bank note program, the Bank may issue from time to time
up to $4,500,000 of senior bank notes with maturities from
30 days to 30 years and up to $200,000 of subordinated
bank notes (none issued as of December 31, 1996) with
maturities from five to 30 years.
The Corporation filed a $200,000 shelf registration
statement ($125,000 issued as of December 31, 1996) with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 19,
1996 under which the Corporation from time to time may
offer and sell (i) senior or subordinated debt securities, consisting of debentures, notes and/or other unsecured evidences, (ii) preferred stock, which may be issued in the
form of depository shares evidenced by depository receipts
and (iii) common stock. The securities will be limited to a
$200,000 aggregate public offering price or its equivalent
(based on the applicable exchange rate at the time of sale)
in one or more foreign currencies, currency units or composite currencies as shall be designated by the Corporation.
On April 30, 1996, the Bank established a deposit note
program under which the Bank may issue from time to
time up to $2,000,000 of deposit notes with maturities from
30 days to 30 years.
Subsequent to year-end, the Bank through a subsidiary
created as a Delaware statutory business trust issued
$100,000 aggregate amount of Floating Rate Subordinated
Capital Income Securities that mature on February 1, 2027.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

On November 17, 1995, the Company entered into a
three-year, $1,715,000 unsecured revolving credit arrangement (the “1995 Credit Facility”), which was replaced in
1996 by the Credit Facility discussed above. The 1995
Credit Facility, which replaced the 1994 syndicated bank
facility, consisted of three tranches. Tranches A and B, for
$1,300,000 and $200,000, respectively, were available to
the Bank. In addition, Tranche B allowed the Bank to
borrow in major foreign currencies. Tranche C was for
$215,000 and was available to the Corporation and the Bank.
The Company entered into swaps to effectively convert
certain of the interest rates on bank notes from fixed to
variable. The swaps, which had a notional amount totaling
$974,000 as of December 31, 1996, will mature in 1997
through 2000 to coincide with maturities of fixed bank
notes. These swaps paid three-month London Interbank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) at a weighted average contractual
rate of 5.59% as of December 31, 1996 and received a
weighted average fixed rate of 7.71%.
As of December 31, 1995, swaps with a notional amount
totaling $1,014,000, with maturity dates from 1996
through 2000, paid three-month LIBOR at a weighted
average contractual rate of 5.69% and received a weighted
average fixed rate of 7.68%. In 1995, the Company entered
into basis swaps (notional amounts totaling $260,000) to
effectively convert bank notes, with a variable rate based
on six-month LIBOR to a variable rate based on threemonth LIBOR. These swaps and bank notes matured
in 1996.
Senior and deposit notes as of December 31, 1996,
mature as follows (all other borrowings mature in 1997):
Senior Notes

$ 891,436
800,166

1997
1998

625,000
599,614
438,115
339,906
$3,694,237

1999
2000
2001
Thereafter
Total

Note E

Deposit Notes

Total

$299,996

$ 891,436
$1,100,162

$299,996

625,000
599,614
438,115
339,906
$3,994,233

Associate Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a contributory Associate Savings
Plan in which substantially all full-time and certain parttime associates are eligible to participate. The Company
matches a portion of associate contributions and makes
discretionary contributions based upon the Company’s
earnings per common share. Effective January 1, 1996, the
Company is required to make additional contributions for
pay-based credits for eligible associates which were previously provided under the Cash Balance Pension Plan. The
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Company’s contributions to this plan were $9,048, $2,701
and $3,890 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1995
and 1994, respectively.
Through December 31, 1995, the Company provided its
associate pension benefits through the Cash Balance
Pension Plan and postretirement medical coverage and life
insurance benefits through the Associate Welfare Benefits
Plan. Effective December 31, 1995, the Company amended
the Cash Balance Pension Plan so that no future pay-based
credits will accrue. Future pay-based credits will accrue to
the Associate Savings Plan discussed above. Neither the
remaining obligations under the Cash Balance Pension
Plan nor the obligations under the unfunded Associate
Welfare Benefits Plan were material to the Company’s
financial statements.

Note F

Stock Plans

The Company has three stock-based compensation plans
which are described below. The Company applies
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and related
Interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. In accordance with APB 25, no compensation
cost has been recognized for the Company’s fixed stock
options, since the exercise price equals the market price of
the underlying stock on the date of grant, nor for the stock
purchase plan, which is considered to be noncompensatory.
For the performance-based option plan discussed below,
compensation cost for these options is measured as the
difference between the exercise price and the market price
required for vesting and is recognized over the estimated
vesting period.
During 1995, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”)
which requires, for companies electing to continue to follow
the recognition provisions of APB 25, pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share, as if the
recognition provisions of SFAS 123 were adopted for stock
options granted subsequent to December 31, 1994. For
purposes of pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value
of the options is amortized to expense over the options’
vesting period. For the year ended December 31, 1996 and
1995, the Company’s pro forma net income and earnings
per share information would have been $151,853, or $2.25
per share, and $125,296, or $1.88 per share, respectively.

For the purpose of pro forma disclosures above, the fair
value of the options was estimated at the date of grant
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for 1996 and 1995,
respectively: dividend yield of 0.90%, volatility factors of
the expected market price of the Company’s common stock
of 32% and 33%, risk-free interest rates of 5.90% and 6.30%
and expected option lives of six and four years.
Under the 1994 Stock Incentive Plan, the Company has
reserved 7,370,880 common shares as of December 31, 1996
(5,370,880 as of December 31, 1995 and 1994) for issuance
in the form of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock and
incentive stock. The exercise price of each stock option
issued to date equals the market price of the Company’s
stock on the date of grant, and an option’s maximum term
is 10 years. The number of shares available for future
grants were 1,508,352, 2,061,640 and 3,334,473 as of
December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. Other
than the performance-based options discussed below,
options generally vest annually over three to five years and
expire beginning November 2004. The restrictions on
restricted stock (of which 23,215 shares were issued in
1995 at the then fair value of $16.75 per share) expire
annually over three years.
On April 18, 1996, stockholders approved an increase of
2,000,000 in shares available for issuance under the 1994
Stock Incentive Plan. With this approval, a September 15,
1995 grant to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and

its President and Chief Operating Officer became effective.
This grant was for performance-based options to purchase
2,500,000 common shares at the September 15, 1995
market price of $29.19 per share. Options vest if the fair
market value of the common stock remains at or above the
following specified levels for at least ten trading days in
any 30 consecutive calendar day period: Fifty percent of the
options vest if the Company’s stock reaches $37.50 per
share, 25% vest if the stock reaches $43.75 per share and
the remaining 25% vest if the stock reaches $50.00 per
share. If these price levels are not achieved within five
years from the date of grant, the portion of the options not
previously vested will expire. The Company recognized
$7,728 of compensation cost for the year ended
December 31, 1996.
On April 26, 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 NonAssociate Directors Stock Incentive Plan. This plan
authorizes a maximum of 500,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock for the automatic grant of restricted stock
and stock options to eligible members of the Company’s
Board of Directors. As of December 31, 1996 and 1995,
respectively, 417,500 and 452,500 shares were available for
grant under this plan. The options vest after one year and
their maximum term is 10 years. Restrictions on the
restricted stock (of which 12,500 shares were issued in
1995 at the then fair value of $19.88 per share) expire after
one year. The exercise price of each option equals the
market price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.

A summary of the status of the Company’s options as of December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, and changes for the years
then ended is presented below:
1995

1996

Options
(000s)

Outstanding - beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Canceled
Outstanding - end of year
Exercisable - end of year

3,315
2,694
(12)
(103)
5,894
1,196

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Per Share

1994

Options
(000s)

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Per Share

2,036
1,361
(6)
(76)
3,315
454

$16.00
25.08
16.00
18.25
$19.67
$16.00

$19.67
29.04
16.40
21.82
$23.92
$18.98

Options
(000s)

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price
Per Share

2,036

$16.00

2,036

$16.00

Weighted-average fair value of

$11.22

options granted during the year

$ 8.19

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding as of December 31, 1996:
Options Outstanding

Range of Exercise Prices

$16.00 - $24.99
$25.00 - $33.99

Number
Outstanding
(000s)

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

2,463
3,431

8.0 years
8.7

Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Number
Exercisable
(000s)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

$16.75
29.07

950
246

$16.33
29.18

Capital One

49

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Under the Company’s Associate Stock Purchase Plan
(the “Purchase Plan”), associates of the Company and its
subsidiaries are eligible to purchase common stock through
monthly salary deductions of a maximum of 15% and a
minimum of 1% of monthly base pay. The amounts deducted are applied to the purchase of unissued common stock of
the Company at 85% of the current market price. An aggregate of 1,000,000 common shares have been authorized for
issuance under the plan, of which 822,001 and 934,355
shares were available for issuance as of December 31, 1996
and 1995, respectively.
Additionally, pursuant to a Marketing and Management
Services Agreement between Signet Bank and Fairbank
Morris, Inc. (“FMI”), a corporation controlled by members
of the Company’s executive management, 464,400 shares of
restricted stock, at the then fair value of $16.00 per share,
were awarded to FMI for services rendered for the period
from January 1, 1994 to December 31, 1995. In connection
with this award, $3,715 in compensation cost was recognized in both 1995 and 1994. The restrictions on this stock
expired on November 15, 1995, one year after the grant date.
On November 16, 1995, the Board of Directors of the
Company declared a dividend distribution of one Right for
each outstanding share of common stock. Each Right
entitles a registered holder to purchase from the Company
one one-hundredth of a share of the Company’s authorized
Cumulative Participating Junior Preferred Stock (the
“Junior Preferred Shares”) at a price of $150 (the
“Purchase Price”), subject to adjustment. The Company has
reserved 1,000,000 shares of its authorized preferred stock
for the Junior Preferred Shares. Because of the nature of
the Junior Preferred Shares’ dividend and liquidation
rights, the value of the one one-hundredth interest in a
Junior Preferred Share purchasable upon exercise of each
Right should approximate the value of one share of common stock. Initially, the Rights are not exercisable and
trade automatically with the common stock. However, the
Rights generally become exercisable and separate certificates representing the Rights will be distributed, if any
person or group acquires 15% or more of the Company’s
outstanding common stock or a tender offer or exchange
offer is announced for the Company’s common stock. The
Rights expire on November 29, 2005, unless earlier
redeemed by the Company at $0.01 per Right prior to the
time any person or group acquires 15% of the outstanding
common stock. Until the Rights become exercisable, the
Rights have no dilutive effect on earnings per share.
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Note G

Other Non-Interest Expense

Other non-interest expense consisted of the following:
Year Ended December 31

Professional services
Fraud losses
Bankcard association assessments
Other
Total

Note H

1996

1995

$ 43,968
26,773

$28,787
27,721

$ 9,203
10,852

1994

15,045
46,397
$132,183

13,116
27,919
$97,543

8,344
12,677
$41,076

Regulatory Matters

The Bank and the Savings Bank are subject to capital adequacy guidelines adopted by the Federal Reserve Board
and the Office of Thrift Supervision (the “regulators”),
respectively. The capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action require the
Bank and the Savings Bank to attain specific capital levels
based upon quantitative measures of their assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items as calculated under
Regulatory Accounting Principles. The inability to meet
and maintain minimum capital adequacy levels could
result in regulators taking actions that could have a material
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Additionally, the regulators have broad discretion in applying higher capital requirements. Regulators consider a
range of factors in determining capital adequacy, such as
an institution’s size, quality and stability of earnings, interest rate risk exposure, risk diversification, management
expertise, asset quality, liquidity and internal controls.
The most recent notifications from the regulators categorized the Bank and the Savings Bank as “well capitalized”.
The Bank must maintain minimum Tier 1 Capital, Total
Capital and Tier 1 Leverage ratios of 4%, 8% and 4%, and
the Savings Bank must maintain minimum Tangible
Capital, Total Capital and Core Capital ratios of 1.5%, 8%
and 3%, respectively, under capital adequacy guidelines,
and 6%, 10% and 5%, respectively, to be well capitalized
under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective
action. As of December 31, 1996, the Bank’s Tier 1 Capital,
Total Capital and Tier 1 Leverage ratios were 11.61%,
12.87% and 9.04%, respectively. As of December 31, 1996,
the Savings Bank’s Tangible Capital, Total Capital and
Core Capital ratios were 9.18%, 16.29% and 9.18%, respectively. In addition, the Savings Bank is subject for the first
three years of its operations to additional capital requirements, including the requirement to maintain a minimum
Core Capital ratio of 8% and a Total Capital ratio of 12%.
As of December 31, 1996, there are no conditions or events
since the notifications discussed above that Management
believes have changed either the Bank’s or the Savings
Bank’s capital category.

During 1996, the Bank received regulatory approval to
establish a branch office in the United Kingdom. In connection with such approval, the Company committed to the
Federal Reserve Board that, for so long as the Bank maintains such branch in the United Kingdom, the Company
will maintain a minimum Tier 1 Leverage ratio of 3.0%. As
of December 31, 1996, the Company’s Tier 1 Leverage ratio
was 11.13%.
Additionally, certain regulatory restrictions exist which
limit the ability of the Bank and the Savings Bank to
transfer funds to the Corporation. As of December 31, 1996,
retained earnings of the Bank and the Savings Bank of
$113,700 and $4,600, respectively, were available for payment of dividends to the Corporation, without prior
approval by the regulators. The Savings Bank is required
to give the Office of Thrift Supervision at least 30 days’
advance notice of any proposed dividend.

Note I

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities
as of December 31, 1996 and 1995 were as follows:
December 31
1996

1995

$41,475
2,758
7,542

$26,177

51,775

28,767

Deferred issuance & replacement costs

5,368
3,119

2,376

Depreciation

2,546

1,872

1,121

3,768
9,794
2,054
19,864
$ 8,903

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses
Stock incentive plan
Other
Total deferred tax assets

2,590

Deferred tax liabilities:
Service charge accrual

Unrealized gains on
securities available for sale
Finance charge accrual

542
12,696
$39,079

Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

Significant components of the provision for income taxes
attributable to continuing operations were as follows:
Year Ended December 31

Federal taxes
State taxes
Deferred income taxes
Income taxes

1996

1995

1994

$119,027
1,715
(27,529)
$ 93,213

$63,162
600
7,458
$71,220

$51,942
(378)
$51,564

The reconciliation of income tax attributable to continuing operations computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax
rates to income tax expense was:
Year Ended December 31
1996

1995

1994

$86,968
1,115

$69,206
390

$51,389

5,130
$93,213

1,624
$71,220

175
$51,564

Income tax at statutory
federal tax rate of 35%
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Other
Income taxes

Note J

Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 1996, the Company had outstanding
lines of credit of approximately $26,800,000 committed to
its customers. Of that total commitment, approximately
$14,000,000 was unused. While this amount represented
the total available lines of credit to customers, the
Company had not experienced and does not anticipate that
all of its customers will exercise their entire available line
at any given point in time. The Company has the right to
increase, reduce, cancel, alter or amend the terms of these
available lines of credit at any time.
Certain premises and equipment are leased under
agreements that expire at various dates through 2006,
without taking into consideration available renewal
options. Many of these leases provide for payment by the
lessee of property taxes, insurance premiums, cost of maintenance and other costs. In some cases, rentals are subject
to increase in relation to a cost of living index. Total rental
expense amounted to $12,603, $5,394 and $3,700 for the
years ended December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.
Future minimum rental commitments as of
December 31, 1996 for all non-cancelable operating leases
with initial or remaining terms of one year or more are as
follows:
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
Thereafter

$10,813
10,603
8,483
6,800
5,227
14,863
$56,789

During 1995, the Company and the Bank became
involved in three purported class action suits relating to
certain collection practices engaged in by Signet Bank and,
subsequently, by the Bank. The complaints in these three
cases allege that Signet Bank and/or the Company violated
a variety of federal and state statutes and constitutional
and common law duties by filing collection lawsuits,
obtaining judgments and pursuing garnishment proceedings in the Virginia state courts against defaulted credit
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card customers who were not residents of Virginia. These
cases were filed in the Superior Court of California in the
County of Alameda, Southern Division, on behalf of a class
of California residents, in the United States District Court
for the District of Connecticut on behalf of a nationwide
class and in the United States District Court for the Middle
District of Florida on behalf of a nationwide class (except
for California). The complaints in these three cases seek
unspecified statutory damages, compensatory damages,
punitive damages, restitution, attorneys’ fees and costs, a
permanent injunction and other equitable relief.
On July 31, 1996, the Florida case was dismissed without prejudice, which permits further proceedings. The
plaintiff has since noticed her appeal to the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit and refiled certain claims arising out of state law in Florida state court.
On September 30, 1996, the Connecticut court entered
judgement in favor of the Bank on plaintiff ’s federal claims
and dismissed without prejudice plaintiff ’s state law
claims. The plaintiff has refiled, on behalf of a class of
Connecticut residents, her claims arising out of state law in
a Connecticut state court.
Subsequent to year-end 1996, the California court
entered judgment in favor of the Bank on all of the plaintiff ’s claims. The time period in which plaintiffs may file an
appeal of the court’s decision has not yet expired.
In connection with the transfer of substantially all of
Signet Bank’s credit card business to the Bank in
November 1994, the Company and the Bank agreed to
indemnify Signet Bank for certain liabilities incurred in litigation arising from that business, which may include
liabilities, if any, incurred in the three purported class
action cases described above. Because no specific measure
of damages is demanded in any of the complaints and each
of these cases is in early stages of litigation, an informed
assessment of the ultimate outcome of these cases cannot
be made at this time. Management believes, however, that
there are meritorious defenses to these lawsuits and
intends to defend them vigorously.
The Company is commonly subject to various other
pending and threatened legal actions arising from the conduct of its normal business activities. In the opinion of the
Management of the Company, the ultimate aggregate liability, if any, arising out of any pending or threatened
action will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company. At the present
time, however, Management is not in a position to determine whether the resolution of pending or threatened litigation will have a material effect on the Company’s results
of operations in any future reporting period.
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Note K

Related Party Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, executive officers and
directors of the Company may have credit card loans issued
by the Company. Pursuant to the Company’s policy, such
loans are issued on the same terms as those prevailing at
the time for comparable loans with unrelated persons and
do not involve more than the normal risk of collectability.
Prior to November 22, 1994, and on a declining basis
thereafter, Signet and its various subsidiaries provided significant financial and operational support to the Company,
the estimated costs of which have been allocated to the
Company. Since the Company operated as a division of
Signet Bank for all periods prior to November 22, 1994,
these allocations did not necessarily represent expenses
that would have been incurred directly by the Company
had it operated on a stand-alone basis historically. The
following table summarizes the effects of these allocations
(including interest expense) and servicing income related to
the retained credit card portfolio reflected in the financial
statements. Revenues and expenses generated in 1995 from
agreements with Signet through February 28, 1995 were
immaterial.
Year Ended
December 31
1994

Revenues:
Loan servicing income pertaining to
retained credit card portfolio

$11,046

Expenses:
Interest expense on affiliate borrowings
Salaries and associate benefits
Data processing services
Contract termination
Other

67,161
7,509
16,524
49,000
6,303

Incremental expenses, other than interest expense, that
the Company would have incurred directly had it operated
on a stand-alone basis were estimated to be $6,000
(unaudited) for the year ended December 31, 1994.
Premises and equipment with a net book value of $21,800
were transferred from Signet on November 22, 1994.
Effective November 22, 1994, the Company entered into
a Separation Agreement, Interim Service Agreement and
long-term Intercompany Servicing Agreements, a Tax
Sharing Agreement and an Associate Benefits Agreement,
which provide for certain ongoing operational and financial
relationships between the Company and Signet that expire
in 1997.

Note L

Securitizations

Note N

The Company securitized $2,695,000 and $3,525,000 of
credit card receivables in 1996 and 1995, respectively, and
had $8,460,607 of investors’ undivided interests in the
receivables under securitizations outstanding as of
December 31, 1996, with expected maturities from 1997 to
2001 (extendable to 2004). The income from securitizations
is included in credit card servicing income.
The Company has entered into swaps to reduce the
interest rate sensitivity associated with these securitizations. In 1995, the Company entered into swaps with
notional amounts totaling $591,000 which are scheduled to
mature in 1998 and 1999 to coincide with the final payment date of a 1995 securitization. In 1994, the Company
entered into swaps with notional amounts totaling
$539,000 which are scheduled to mature in 1997 to coincide
with the final payment date of the remaining term of a
1993 securitization. These swaps paid floating rates of
three-month LIBOR (weighted average contractual rate of
5.55% and 5.78% as of December 31, 1996 and 1995,
respectively) and received a weighted average fixed rate of
7.23% as of December 31, 1996 and 1995.
The terms of securitizations require the Company to
maintain a certain level of assets, retained by the trust, to
absorb potential credit losses. The amount available to
absorb potential credit losses was included in accounts
receivable from securitizations and was $266,813 and
$235,188 as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively.

Note M

The Company is active in originating consumer loans primarily in the United States. The Company reviews each
potential customer’s credit application and evaluates the
applicant’s financial history and ability and willingness to
repay. Loans are made primarily on an unsecured basis;
however, certain loans require collateral in the form of cash
deposits.
The geographic distribution of the Company’s consumer
loans was as follows:
Year Ended December 31
1995

1996
%

Loans

%

19.25%
36.05
18.64
25.60
.46
100.00%

$ 2,010,326
3,777,644
1,949,113
2,698,613
9,784
10,445,480

19.25%
36.17
18.66
25.83
.09
100.00%

Geographic
Region:
Northeast
South
Midwest
West
Other

balances

Cash and Due from Banks: The carrying amount

approximated fair value.
Cash Equivalents: The carrying amounts of federal
funds sold and interest-bearing deposits at other banks
approximated fair value.

Consumer Loans: The net carrying amount approximated
fair value due to the relatively short average life and
variable interest rates on a substantial number of these
loans. This amount excluded any value related to account
relationships.
Interest Receivable: The carrying amount approximated

fair value.
Borrowings: The carrying amounts of interest-bearing

deposits, short-term borrowings and deposit notes approximated fair value. The fair value of senior notes was
$3,722,000 and $2,553,000 as of December 31, 1996 and 1995,
respectively, determined based on quoted market prices.
Interest Payable: The carrying amount approximated

$ 2,465,237
4,615,596
2,386,918
3,277,717
58,501
12,803,969

Less securitized
Total loans

The following discloses the fair value of financial instruments as of December 31, 1996 and 1995, whether or not
recognized in the balance sheets, for which it is practical to
estimate fair value. In cases where quoted market prices
are not available, fair values are based on estimates using
present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used,
including the discount rate and estimates of future cash
flows. In that regard, the derived fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in many cases, could not be realized in immediate
settlement of the instrument. As required under generally
accepted accounting principles, these disclosures exclude
certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments from its disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the
aggregate fair value amounts presented do not represent
the underlying value of the Company.
The following methods and assumptions were used by
the Company in estimating the fair value as of
December 31, 1996 and 1995, for its financial instruments:

Securities Available for Sale: The fair value of securities
available for sale was determined using current market
prices. See Note B.

Significant Concentration
of Credit Risk

Loans

Disclosures About Fair Value of
Financial Instruments

(8,460,067)
$ 4,343,902

(7,523,801)
$ 2,921,679

fair value.
Interest Rate Swap Agreements: The fair value was the
estimated amount that the Company would have received
to terminate the swap agreements at the respective dates,
taking into account the forward yield curve and the creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. As of December 31,
1996 and 1995, the estimated fair value was $32,700 and
$85,200, respectively.
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Note O

Capital One Financial Corporation
(Parent Company Only) Condensed
Financial Information
Year Ended
December 31

December 31
Balance Sheets

1996

1995

Investment in subsidiaries
Loans to subsidiaries
Other
Total assets

$ 16,073
748,365

$ 7,792
587,518

105,000
2,333
$871,771

3,881
$599,191

Liabilities
Senior notes
Other

temporary
investments

$

$

560

$

79

Dividends from
subsidiaries

117,400

11,000

571

456

7

11,104
37
11,067

72
28
44

115,444
$126,511

11,029
$11,073

Non-interest
expense
taxes and equity in
undistributed earnings

131,380

Stockholders’ Equity

2,296
3,013

Interest expense

Income before income

$125,000
6,380

Total liabilities

740,391

$599,191

$871,771

$599,191

of subsidiaries
Income taxes

Total liabilities and stockholders’
equity

1995

1996

Interest from

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Statements of Income

Period from Inception
(November 22, 1994)
to December 31, 1994

116,112
(490)
116,602

Equity in
undistributed
earnings of
subsidiaries
Net income

38,665
$155,267

Year Ended
December 31
Statements of Cash Flows

Operating Activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries

1996

1995

$ 155,267

$ 126,511

$ 11,073

(115,444)

(11,029)

62
2,017
6,380
125,061

4,020
(3,161)
(1,054)
10,872

3,715
(720)
1,054
4,093

(119,502)
(105,000)

(2,470)

(92,124)

Increase in loans to subsidiaries
Net cash used for investing activities

(224,502)

(2,470)

(92,124)

1,257
132
(15,883)
(14,494)
(6,092)
13,884

101,915

7,792

$ 13,884

Amortization of deferred compensation
Increase (decrease) in other assets
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

(38,665)

Period from Inception
(November 22, 1994)
to December 31, 1994

Investing Activities:
Increase in investment in subsidiaries

Financing Activities:
Issuance of senior notes

125,000

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

3,109
186
(20,573)
107,722
8,281
7,792

Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
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$ 16,073

$

101,915
13,884
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